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Characteristics of GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing
in such companies and should make the decision to invest
only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange and no assurance is given that there will
be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness
and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any
part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of Yu Tak
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) collectively and
individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given
in compliance with the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”)
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the
Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries,
confirm that to the best of their knowledge and belief the
information contained in this report is accurate and complete in
all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and there
are no other matters the omission of which would make any
statement herein or this report misleading.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NEER

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHONG Yu Ping
Ms. LI Xia
Mr. CHEN Yin

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. POON Hon Yin
Ms. NA Xin
Ms. ZHAO Xiaxia

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Mr. CHAN Hoi Keung Terence

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. CHAN Hoi Keung Terence

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. LI Xia
Mr. CHAN Hoi Keung Terence

BERMUDA RESIDENT
REPRESENTATIVES
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Mr. POON Hon Yin (Chairman)
Ms. NA Xin
Ms. ZHAO Xiaxia

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. POON Hon Yin (Chairman)
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
NAEER
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Certified Public Accountants

11/F Lee Garden Two
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Causeway Bay,
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PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

4th Floor, North Cedar House,

41 Cedar Avenue Hamilton HM12
Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Rooms 1712 — 1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
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Clarendon House
2 Church Street
Hamilton HM11
Bermuda

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

35/F Infinitius Plaza
199, Des Voeux Road Central,
Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

WEBSITE ADDRESS

www.hkjewelry.net
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
P HE

for the year ended 31 December 2023
BE_F_=—F+_H=+—HIFE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
ZE-NF ZEZTF ZE—F ZT-F ZEB-=HF
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET

RESULTS ES

Revenue WA 98,492 49,211 41,361 28,785 21,422
Loss before income tax ks AAEHATEE (14,635) (9,243) (8,820) (7,124) (13,815)
Income tax expense FTeHiRX (79) (81) (88) (171) (33)
Loss for the year FAEE (14,714) (9,324) (8,908) (7,295) (13,848)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHERE

Total assets BERE 141,204 140,879 130,484 122,979 114,962
Total liabilities R (24,288) (25,395) (21,965) (20,902) (31,788)
Total equity g it 116,916 115,484 108,519 102,077 83,174

ECCFFHR HEERERERAR 5



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EERE

Dear Shareholders:

On behalf of the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of Yu Tak
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”), it is my
pleasure to present the Annual Report of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

Economy of Mainland China had grown by 5.2% in 2023. The
growth, however, might take time to translate into business
of the segments engaged by the Group. Sales of Gold and
Jewellery products segment in 2023 fell by 42% due to
intensifying market competition. The IT products and Services
segment which was less susceptible to economic volatility
also reported a decrease in turnover of 38%. The rehabilitation
product businesses of the Group, which commenced in late
2022, had reported revenue of approximately HK$5 million,
contributing 23% of revenue of the year that it helped catch up
parts of the shortfall of the other two segments.

In Q4 2023, the Group signed an agreement for setting up
an equity joint venture in Shandong, PRC for promotion and
sale of home-use electronic medical devices and medicine-
food homology products. More updates will be provided in the
coming months.

The Group will adopt a prudent but optimistic view on the
business environment of 2024. Any expansion plans and
investment decisions will be accessed with dual care.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of all Board members, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my gratitude to the Shareholders and
business partners of the Group for their continued supports and
trust during the past years, and my most sincere appreciation
to the Directors, management and staff at all levels for their
dedication, hard works and contributions to the Group.

Chong Yu Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 Mar 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENWR DM

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s loss
attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to
HK$12,405,000 (2022: HK$6,915,000).

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to HK$21,422,000 (2022: HK$28,785,000).

The sales of gold and jewellery products decreased 42% to
HK$6,457,000 (2022: HK$11,181,000). Revenue from enterprise
software products and professional services both fell by 38%
to HK$8,346,000 (2022: HK$13,388,000) and HK$1,748,000
(2022: HK$2,775,000) respectively. Revenue form sales of
rehabilitation products amounted to HK$4,871,000 (2022:
HK$1,441,000).

OPERATION REVIEW

Economy of Mainland China had grown by 5.2% in 2023. The
industrial sector was the largest contributor that it constituted
approximately 32% of the GDP while the wholesale & retail
industry and the financial sectors were responsible for about
10% and 8% respectively.

As it might take time for economic recovery to be fully
translated into sales of the luxury product market, the Group’s
Sales of Gold and Jewellery products businesses fell by 42%.
The IT products and Services segment also reported a decrease
in turnover of 38%. The rehabilitation product businesses of
the Group reported revenue of approximately HK$5 million in its
first year of operation, contributing 23% of total revenue of the
group that it helped catch up parts of the shortfall. The overall
fall in turnover led to a loss before tax of HK$13.8 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DM

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES
AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2023, the Group remained in a strong
financial position with cash and bank balances of HK$21,031,000
(2022: HK$23,438,000).

As at 31 December 2023, the Group's issued shares were
1,947,690,000 shares (2022: 1,947,690,000 shares).

The Group monitored its capital structure using the gearing
ratio which is net debt divided by total equity. For this purpose,
the Group defined net debt as total debt, which comprises
long-term and short-term borrowings, less cash and cash
equivalents. Total equity comprised equity attributable to
owners of the Company and non-controlling interests stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The gearing
ratio is not presented, it was nearly zero (2022: zero).

TREASURY POLICY

The Directors will continue to follow a prudent policy in managing
the Group's cash and maintaining a strong and healthy liquidity to
ensure that the Group is well placed to take advantage of future
growth opportunities.

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group does not have significant exposure on foreign
currency risk. The functional currencies of the Group's entities
are principally denominated in HK$ and RMB. The Group
has certain exposure to foreign currency risk as some of its
business transactions, assets and liabilities are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the respective
group entities such as USD. The Group currently does not have
a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign currency
transactions, assets and liabilities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERBNWmR DN

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENT, MATERIAL
ACQUISITION OR DISPOSAL OF
SUBSIDIARIES

The Group did not have any significant investment and material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries during the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: an investment in a newly establishment
subsidiary of RMB5 million).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL
COMMITMENT

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitments
amounting to HK$2,550,000 (2022: HK$396,000).

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Group had
no significant subsequent event.

SEGMENTAL PERFORMANCE

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the revenue from the
Jewellery Products segment, the IT Products and Services
segment and the Rehabilitation product segment amounted to
HK$6,457,000 (2022: HK$11,181,000), HK$10,094,000 (2022:
HK$16,163,000) and HK$4,871,000 (2022: HK$1,441,000)
respectively.
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R-ZZE-=ZF+-_fA=+—H  KREBHEAK
¥ 52,550,000/ 7T( —F = —4:396,000/& 7T ) °

%ﬁ%@%ﬁ
RERPLERE  AEBVESKHEEE -

E&ﬁ%ﬁ éuﬂﬂﬁzﬁmmﬁi“*m%@

E ﬁ% Z WA R A6,457,0008 T( —Z ==

4 111,181,000/ 7T ) * 10,094,000 T(=Z =

¢ 16,163,000/ 7T ) 24,871,000 0(—F =
T~ 11,441,000 7T) °

ECCFFHR HEERERERAR 9



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEEENWR DM

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION
POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the number of employees of the
Group was 56 (2022: 55). Remuneration is determined by
reference to market terms and the performance, qualification
and experience of individual employee. Year-end bonus
based on individual performance will be paid to employees as
recognition of and reward for their contributions.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

Generally, it is believed that 2024 presents both challenges
and optimism for China’'s economy. While the uncertainties
caused by downturn of the property sector since 2022 may
remain bothering China’s economy in 2024, the government will
impose more stimulus measures to deal with suspended real
estate development projects and associated financial stresses
of local government and private sectors.

The Group maintains a prudent but optimistic view on its
business environment of 2024. In fact, the Board is steering the
Group’s businesses to the health and rehabilitation industries
which will be less susceptible to economic cycle. The move
can be more prominent later in the year when the equity joint
venture in Shandong commences its businesses.

Regarding the other two segments of the Group which have
been operating for years, the Board has no immediate plan to
expand their scales considering the uncertainties and sluggish
market conditions for the businesses.

10 Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(1)

(2)

%#‘H"'
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
PRACTICES

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance practices and procedures. The
Directors believe that sound and reasonable corporate
governance practices are essential for the growth of
the Company and for safeguarding the Shareholders’
interests and the Company's assets.

The Company’'s code of corporate governance practices
was adopted with reference to the code provisions of
the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code Provisions”)
contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing Rules to
ensure that the Group's business activities and decision-
making processes are regulated in a proper and prudent
manner. The Company has compiled with the Corporate
Governance Code set out in the Appendix 15 of the GEM
Listing Rules during the year ended 31 December 2023
except where otherwise stated.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the strategic
directions, management, business and financial
performance of the Group.

The Board has delegated the day-to-day operational
responsibilities of the Group’s business to the executive
management team under the leadership of Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer and various Board committees.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises the following members:

Executive Directors:
Mr. CHONG Yu Ping
Ms. LI Xia

Mr. CHEN Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. POON Hon Yin

Ms. ZHAO Xiaxia

Ms. NA Xin

(1)

(2)
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

(2)
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting

The Board meets at least four times a year to review
financial and operating performance and discuss the
Group’s direction and strategy, details of the attendance
of the Board of Directors are as follows:

(2)

& 2E

SEFROBITNAEE AR
EL%E WEEFNAEBRZHR KL
BEEgHFeR2FBOT

31 Mar 2023 21 April 2023 15 May 2023 14 Aug 2023 14 Nov 2023

- St —ECZE - St —E-=E —E-ZE

=A=1-A MA=1-H 1AtEA NA+HEA T-A1@A

Ms. LI Xia X G / / v v /
Mr. CHONG Yu Ping GeThE / / / / /
Mr. CHEN Yin BEEE v / /' Resigned ERE  Resigned 2BE
Mr. POON Hon Yin BEELE Not appointed &fE%  Not appointed &fE%  Not appointed K{E% / /
Mr. LAM Tin Faat WREEE / / / / /
Ms. NA Xin Pkt X v X v/ X
Ms. ZHAQ Xiaxia HEENL / X / X v
Directors are given notice of regular Board meetings of %%%E%%%@@Eﬁ%f Al s 14 K&

at least 14 days in advance. The Directors will receive
details of agenda with comprehensive reports on the
management’s strategic plans, updates by business unit
heads on their lines of business, financial objectives,
plans and actions at least 3 days before a Board meeting.

All Directors have access to the Company Secretary
who is responsible for ensuring that Board procedures
are complied with and advises the Board on corporate
governance and compliance matters.

The executive Directors meet every two weeks to review
company business pipeline, receivables, and business
unit performance. Senior management of the Company
(the “Senior Management”) meets with Business Unit
Management every week to review project status, and
business unit issues.

The Company has undertaken several meetings, first
with Senior Management, second with the Audit
Committee, and subsequently with the Board, to discuss
and review the Group's practice on corporate governance
and make specific checks on the Group’'s compliance
via a compliance matrix in accordance to the criteria set
forth by the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company Secretary has assisted the chairman of the
Board in preparing the agenda for each meeting and the
minutes of such meetings are kept by the Company’s
company secretary or other duly authorised person. All
minutes are open for inspection by any Director on reasonable
notice. Draft(s) and final version of the minutes are sent to
Directors for comment and records, respectively.

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Non-executive Directors

The Company confirmed that annual confirmations
of independence were received from each of the
Company’'s independent non-executive Directors
pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and all
independent non-executive directors are considered to
be independent.

The function of the independent non-executive Directors
includes but not limited to participating in Board meetings
and meetings of committees to bring an independent
judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy,
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments
and standards of conduct. The written terms of reference
for their functions in the respective committees; namely
Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Audit Committee are available on the Websites of Stock
Exchange and the Company.

Directors’ Training

Directors must keep abreast of their collective
responsibilities. Every newly appointed Director
should receive induction and subsequent briefing and
professional development.

Pursuant to Code A.6.5 of the Code Provisions (which is
effective from 1 April 2012), Directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and
refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. During the period, all Directors have participated
in appropriate continuous professional development
activities by way of reading materials relevant to the
Company’s business or to the Directors’ duties and
responsibilities.

Mr. Poon Hon Yin, as the chairman of the Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee and Nomination
Committee also attended a number of seminars/courses
in relation to continuous professional developments
organised by The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants during the year in 2023.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Liability Insurance

Appropriate liability insurance, the coverage of which
is reviewed annually, has been arranged to indemnify
the Directors’ risk exposure arising out of corporate
activities.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER

Pursuant to Code A.2.1 of the Code Provisions, the
roles of chairman and chief executive officer should
be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual, so that there is a clear division of
responsibilities between the management of the Board
and the day-to-day management of the Company's
business to ensure a balance of power and authority.

Mr. Chong Yu Ping has become the Chairman of the
Board and the Chief Executive Officer of Company since
December 2023. As all major decisions of the Company
are made in consultation with members of the Board,
the Company believes that there is adequate balance of
power and authority in place though vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the
same person. The Board will review the decision and
its impairs on operation, if any, on a continuing basic
and will takes those corrective actions decisively as
necessary.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 11 August
2000. The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are
available on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are to
review and supervise the financial reporting process and
internal control procedures of the Group.

The revised terms of reference of Audit Committee in
accordance with Rules 5.05 (2) and 5.28 to 5.29 and
Code C3 of the Code Provisions of the GEM Listing
Rules was adopted.

The members of Audit Committee is currently comprised
Mr. Poon Hon Yin, Ms. Na Xin and Ms. Zhao Xiaxia, all
of whom are independent Non-executive Directors. Mr.
Poon Hon Yin is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued) (4) BiftZE=H)
The Audit Committee’s principal duties are to review and B L EBe s TEITEARTHERKE
supervise the financial reporting process, internal control BB mERE - W*Bﬁf% B kER
procedures and risk management system of the Group. EIBELE o
The Group's unaudited quarterly and interim results E LB e EHNAEREE T =%
and audited annual results during the year ended 31 T A=+ BHIEFERAZALRERETE
December 2023 have been reviewed by the Audit LA ¥EEREEZEFELS BiFELB8
Committee, who is of the opinion that such statements CRAZERROBER 2 @528 -
comply with the applicable accounting standards and that WEELFTDEE -
adequate disclosures have been made.
The summary of work of the audit committee during the HRNEFLZEEeNTEMENT  —
period is as follows:—
- met with the external auditor, reviewed and made — HEANEZ SR e m - EEAQAH
recommendations for the Board's approval on FE  hEHLRETESRE - WHLE
the annual, interim and quarterly reports of the HEstEsedh s
Company;
- reviewed and approved audit fee; — EHNMIEZEER
= recommended the re-appointment of Grant - BREBRRE(ER)STMESA
Thornton Hong Kong Limited as auditor, subject to ERAT ABZEED - HAFHRERN
the Shareholders’ approval at the annual general REEREAE RS FHEE
meeting;
= reviewed the effectiveness of the Company's risk — BRI AR B ER S I & A S e
management and internal control systems; and FIERIRRE : &
- reviewed the adequacy of resources, qualifications - VYNGR E’i—&ﬁﬂ‘xﬁi&ﬂ%&ﬁﬁﬁ
and experience of staff of the Company’s accounting HOER  BEIBEFENKER
and financial reporting function. 5 o
Details of the attendance of members at Audit Committee EHLFEeKERFEeZ BN
meeting are as follows:
31 Mar 2023 21 April 2023 15 May 2023 14 Aug 2023 14 Nov 2023
ZEC=E ZEBICE ~BZ= “BIZE “BIEE
=A=t-H MA=1-A LAt+ER NATOA +-A1EA
Mr LAM Tin Faat ~ #R%%4E / / / Resigned 2 EHE Resigned B &E
Ms. Poon Hon Yin ~ EEE %4 Not appointed &fE#%  Not appointed &% Not appointed K% / /
Ms. NA Xin il en X / / / /
Ms. Zhao Xiaxia HEELT / X / X /
SCFFR HERRERERAR 15
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on
10 May 2005. The written terms of reference of the
remuneration committee are available on the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Remuneration
Committee is to make recommendations to the Board on
the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors and
Senior Management's remuneration.

The revised terms of reference of remuneration committee
in accordance with Code B.1.2 of the Code Provisions
of the GEM Listing Rules was adopted on the Board
meeting held on 21 March 2012.

The members of Remuneration Committee is currently
comprised Mr. Poon Hon Yin and Ms. Na Xin, both are
independent non-executive Directors, and Ms. Li Xia
who is an executive Director, Mr. Poon Hon Yin is the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The Remuneration Committee should hold at least one
regular meeting in a year. During the year under review,
the members of Remuneration Committee, Mr. Poon
Hon Yin, and Ms. Li Xia attended the Remuneration
Committee Meeting on 14 November 2023.

The summary of work of the remuneration committee
during the period is as follows:—

- reviewed and recommended to the Board on the
remuneration packages of the executive Directors
and senior management of the Company; and

- reviewed and recommended to the Board on the
Directors’ fees of independent non-executive
Directors.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 21 March
2012. The written terms of reference of the nomination
committee are available on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange. The Nomination Committee is
to assist the Board to deal with matters in relation to
appointment of members of the Board.

The written terms of reference of nomination committee
in accordance with Code A.5.2 of the Code Provisions
of the GEM Listing Rules was adopted on the Board
meeting held on 21 March 2012.

The members of Nomination Committee is currently
comprised Mr. Poon Hon Yin and Ms. Na Xin, both are
independent non-executive Directors, and Ms. Li Xia
who is an executive Director, Mr. Poon Hon Yin is the
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The Nomination Committee should hold at least one
regular meeting in a year. During the year under review,
the members of Nomination Committee, Mr. Poon Hon
Yin, and Ms. Li Xia attended the Nomination Committee
Meeting on 14 November 2023.

The summary of work of the nomination committee
during the period is as follows:—

- reviewed the existing Board’s structure, size and
composition; and

- reviewed and assessed the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board regularly to ensure
that the Board has a balance of expertise, skills and
experience appropriate for the requirements of the
business of the Company. Where vacancies on the
Board exist, the Nomination Committee will carry out
the selection process by making reference to the skills,
experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity
and time commitments of the proposed candidates,
the Company's needs and other relevant statutory
requirements and regulations.

(6)
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy which
sets out the approach to achieve a sustainable and
balanced development of the Company and also to
enhance the quality of performance of the Company.

The Company seeks to achieve board diversity through
the consideration of a number of factors, including but
not limited to age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against
objective criteria, having due regard for the benefits of
diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of
diversity perspectives as stated in the above. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution
that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises
six directors. Three of the directors are independent
non-executive directors and independent of management,
thereby promoting critical review and control of the
management process. The Board is also characterised
by significant diversity, whether considered in terms of
professional background, gender and skills.

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary. Our Company Secretary is
currently Mr. Chan Hoi Keung Terence who is responsible
for facilitating the process of implementing the Board's
decision, as well as communications between the
members of the Board and the management team of the
Company, and advising the Board and its committees on all
governance matters.
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TRER/RE
(8) COMPLIANCE OF CODE FOR

(9)

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES
TRANSACTION

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. Having made
specific enquiry of all Directors, all Directors confirms that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings
and the code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the Directors adopted by the Company throughout the
year ended 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for
preparing the Company’s financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2023 which reflect true
and fair view of the financial position of the Group
and in compliance with relevant law and disclosure
provisions of the Listing Rules. The Board is responsible
for presenting a balanced, clear and comprehensible
assessment extends to annual and interim reports, other
inside information announcements and other financial
disclosures required under the GEM Listing Rules.

The Group appointed Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited
as the Group's external auditor. The statement by Grant
Thornton Hong Kong Limited regarding their reporting
responsibilities to the Shareholders on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group is set out in the
Independent Auditor’'s Report on pages 37 to 42 of this
annual report.

(8)

(9)
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(10) AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the remuneration
for the provision of audit and non-audit services by the
auditors to the Group is as follows:

(10) X BETEN <=

BHE_E-_=F+-A=t+—HItFEE -
1% SRR 0] AN £ B IR A AR B X FE X BUBR S 1Y
BT

2023 2022
—=E=-= —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHE T T
Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited BE () S EBA
BRAF
Annual audit services FEZERE 1,220 900
Non-audit services X B RS = =
Total et 1,220 900

(11) RISK MANAGEMENT AND

20

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk
management and internal control system of the Group
and reviewing their effectiveness on an ongoing basis.
Such risk management and internal control systems are
designed for managing risk rather than eliminating the
risk of failure to achieve business objective, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss.

Management team of the Company has established
the Group’s Internal Control Policies and Guidance for
monitoring the internal control system.

The Board has delegated to the management team of
the Company the implementation of such internal control
systems as well as the review of relevant financial,
operational and compliance controls and risk management
procedures. Qualified personnels and individual business unit
heads of the Group maintain and monitor the compliance
of these internal control systems and procedures on an
ongoing basis and report variances to senior management.
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(12) INTERNAL CONTROL

Based on the assessment and review made by the Board
and senior management on the effectiveness of the internal
control system, the Audit Committee is satisfied that:

o the internal control and accounting systems of the
Group are designed to provide reasonable assurance
as to material assets of the Group are protected,
business risks attributable to the Group are identified
and monitored, material transactions are executed
in accordance with management’s authorisation and
the accounts are reliable for publication; and

° there is an ongoing process in place for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks faced
by the Group.

(13) COMMUNICATION WITH

SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS RIGHT

The Company endeavors to maintain an on-going
dialogue with the Shareholders and in particular, through
annual general meetings or other general meetings to
communicate with the shareholders and encourage their
participation. The Company will ensure that there are
separate resolutions for separate issues proposed at the
general meetings.

The Company will continue to maintain an open and
effective investor communication policy and to update
investors on relevant information on the Group’s business
in a timely manner, subject to relevant regulatory
requirements.

A) General Meetings

The general meetings of the Company provide a
good opportunity for communication between the
shareholders of the Company and the Board. An
annual general meeting of the Company shall be
held in each year and at such time and place to be
determined by the Board. Each general meeting,
other than an annual general meeting, shall be called
a special general meeting.
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(13) COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS AND
SHAREHOLDERS RIGHT (Continued)

22

A)

B)

C)

General Meetings (Continued)

The 2024 AGM is scheduled on 15 May 2024. A
circular containing, among other matters, further
information will be despatched to the shareholders
of the Company together with this report in
accordance with the Bye-Laws, the GEM Listing
Rules and other applicable laws and regulations.

Rights and Procedures for Shareholders to

Convene an Extraordinary General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 58 of the Bye-Laws, any one or
more shareholders of the Company holding as at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the
Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within
two months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the
Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the
requisitionists themselves may do so in accordance
with the provisions of Section 74 (3) of the Bye-Laws.

Right to Put Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders of the Company have the right to put
enquiries to the Board. All such enquiries shall be
in writing and sent by post to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong for the
attention of the Board or the company secretary.
Shareholders may also make enquiries with the
Board at the general meetings of the Company.
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(14) ATTENDANCE OF GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to code provision E.1.2 of the CG Code, the
Chairman should attend the annual general meeting of the
Company and he should invite the chairmen of the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee, the Nomination
Committee and any other committees (as appropriate)
to attend. Pursuant to code provision A.6.7 of the CG
Code, independent non-executive Director and other non-
executive Directors should attend the general meetings of
the Company.

INVESTORS RELATIONS

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and the Shareholders, and investors. These include
answering guestions through the general meetings, the publication
of annual, interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements
and circulars on the Company’s website at http://www.hkjewelry.net/
and meetings with investors and the Shareholders. News update
of the Group’s business development and operation are also
available on the website.

HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF
INSIDE INFORMATION

With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside
information, the Company has formulated and implemented its
guidelines, with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the
confidentially requirement and fulfil the disclosure obligation. The
guidelines includes, but not limited to, the procedures as follows:

° The Group has strictly prohibited unauthorised use of
confidential or inside information;

o The Group has stipulated policy on handling of rumours,
unintentional selective disclosure and waiver to the
disclosure of inside information, external communication
guidelines and compliance and reporting procedures;

° The Group authorised only the executive Directors and
company secretary for responding to external enquiries
about Group's affairs; and

° Dissemination of inside information of the Company shall
be conducted by publishing the relevant information on
the website of GEM and the Company, according to the
requirements of the GEM Listing Rules.

There had been no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents during the period.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESTHRE

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities and other particulars of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023
and financial position of the Group at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 43 to 46.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2023 is set out in the “Financial Summary”,
“Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on page 5, page 6 and pages 7 to 10 respectively of
this Annual Report.

The Group is committed to enhancing governance, promoting
employee benefits and development, protecting the
environment and giving back to society in order to fulfill social
responsibility and achieve sustainable growth. The Group has
complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impact on the operations of the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of
the annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company
are set out in note 27 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and
the Company during the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 47 to 48 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.
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DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Company had no
distributable reserve.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company's Bye-laws, and there was no restriction against such
rights under the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
THE COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 December 2023, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any
of the Company’s shares.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. CHONG Yu Ping (chairman)
Ms. LI Xia

Mr. CHEN Yin

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. LAM Tin Faat (Resigned on 20 June 2023)
Mr. POON Hon Yin (Appointed on 20 June 2023)
Ms. NA Xin

Ms. ZHAO XiaXia

Pursuant Article 83(2) of the Bye-laws of the Company, the
Directors shall have the power from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy on the Board. Any Director so appointed by the Board
shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election at that meeting. Pursuant to Article 84(2), any Director
appointed pursuant to Article 83(2) shall not be taken into
account in determining which particular Directors or the number
of Directors who are to retire by rotation.
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DIRECTORS (cContinued)

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Bye-laws of the Company, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from
office by rotation provided that notwithstanding anything herein,
every Director shall be subject to retirement at least once every
three years. Ms. Li Xia, Mr. Chong Yu Ping and Ms. Na Xin will
retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and Senior Management
are set out on pages 34 to 36.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries within one year without payment of compensation
(other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for reviewing the
Group’'s emolument policy and structure for all remuneration
of the Directors and senior management of the Group, having
regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and comparable market practices.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Details of the connected and related party transactions are set
out in the Directors’ Report and note 32 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Notwithstanding the above, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director or the Director’'s connected party had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

At 31 December 2023, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in the
shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO"), or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules were as follows:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
of the Company

EERFETHRAERKRAD - HER
ORESFTRHEEZEERKXR

RZFB-_=F+-A=+t—8  REARXAER
EH R AEGE(TRE 77 RGP ) 352165
EFEZECMAE - HRBEHIAMGEM EMAR
AIRTHRTFARRARMI BN EERAR
AIITHARE N AR B R E AR A E 2 iy - 187
B EFTRAZERIRBWT

RAXFZREECI10BTEBR TR

Number of ordinary shares held

FEEBREA
Percentage of
the issued
Held by share capital
Beneficial Held controlled of the
Owner by family corporation Total Company
EEARERT
Name of Director EEHF EREBA HXKEEE HIEHAAEE ot REAB DL
Ms. LI Xia FELT - - 804,159,697 804,159,697 41.29%
(Note 1)
(Hit1)
Mr. CHEN Yin RELE - - 149,455,740 149,455,740 7.67%
(Note 2)
(Hit2)
Mr. CHONG Yu Ping AR 36,726,000 - - 36,726,000 1.88%
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Long positions in the ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
of the Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1) These shares were held by Ocean Expert Investments Limited,
a limited company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
which is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Xia.

(2) These shares were held by Flourish Zone Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands which is wholly-owned
by Mr. Chen Yin.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations as at 31 December 2023.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

At 31 December 2023, the register of substantial shareholders W-_ZE-_=F+-_A=+—H ' BEALAFER
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the FEA5KHEEEIIEICKEFEZFEREZLTAT
SFO shows that the following shareholders had notified the & @ TH|REDHERQA T RERQT D EITRAK
Company of relevant interests and short positions in the issued HEEEHABER AR °

share capital of the Company.

Percentage
Number of of the issued
issued share capital
Capacity in which interests are ordinary of the
Name of party Notes held shares held Company
R FIBERT  (BADRERT
BHEERE 2B izt BEERNSH EEREE RABFDL
Ocean Expert Investments Limited Note 1 Beneficial owner 804,159,697 41.29%
BERERRLA izt ExBAA
Ms. LI Xia Note 1 Interest in a controlled corporation 804,159,697 41.29%
FERL iz REEHIAR R
Mr. Lau Cheung Hung Beneficial owner 162,752,000 8.35%
BB EE EHBAA
Flourish Zone Limited Note 2 Beneficial owner 149,455,740 7.67%
BEBRAR M2z  EmBEBA
Mr. CHEN Yin Note 2 Interest in a controlled corporation 149,455,740 7.67%
BRE LA Mtz REEHIAR L ER
CK Hutchison Holdings Limited Note 3 Interest in controlled corporations 143,233,151 7.35%
("CK Hutchison")
RINZEEARAR(RHM]) Mizt3  REEHIAR
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Notes:

(1) Ocean Expert Investments Limited is a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands and wholly owned by Ms. Li Xia.

(2) Flourish Zone Limited is a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands and wholly-owned by Mr. Chen Yin.

3) CK Hutchison is deemed to be interested in a total of 143,233,151
shares of the Company through its controlled companies.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of
any other interests or short positions in the issued share capital
of the Company as at 31 December 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate turnover attributable to the
Group's five largest customers was approximately 47% of
the Group's total turnover and the Group's largest customer
accounted for approximately 30% of the Group's turnover.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the
Group’'s five largest suppliers was approximately 78% of
the Group's total purchases and the Group’'s largest supplier
accounted for approximately 70% of the Group's total
purchases.

At no time during the year, the Directors, their associates or
any shareholder (which to the knowledge of the directors owns
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest
in these major suppliers or customers.
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ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above, at no time during the year was the
Company, its subsidiaries or its associated corporations a party to
any arrangement that enables the Directors to acquire benefits by

means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company
or its associated corporation.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

Except as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements,
the group had no other partial transaction with related parties.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors, the management
shareholders or their respective associates (as defined in the
GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which causes
or may cause significant competition with the business of the
Group.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

At no time during the year and up to the date of this report,
there was or is any permitted indemnity provision being in force
for the benefit of any directors of the Company (whether made
by the Company or otherwise) or of its associated company (made
by the Company).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

All the Directors do not have any financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationship with each other.

The Company confirmed that annual confirmations of independence
were received from each of the Company’s independent non-
executive Directors pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules
and all independent non-executive Directors are considered to be
independent.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee on 11 August
2000 with written terms of reference in accordance with Rules
5.28 to 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Audit Committee
currently comprise three members — Mr. Poon Hon Yin, Ms.
Zhao Xiaxia and Ms. Na Xin, all of whom are Independent Non-
executive Directors. Mr. Poon Hon Yin is the chairman of the
Audit Committee. The Audit Committee’s principal duties are
to review and supervise the financial reporting process and
internal control procedures of the Group. The Audit Committee
met on a quarterly basis during the year ended 31 December
2023.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company's total issued share capital was held by the public as
at the date of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to the establishment of good
corporate governance. Information on the corporate governance
practices adopted by the Company is set out in the Corporate
Governance Report on pages 11 to 23.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in this annual report, there is no
significant event occurring after the reporting period.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming annual
general meeting to re-appoint Messrs. Grant Thornton Hong
Kong Limited as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Chong Yu Ping
Chairman

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHONG Yu Ping, also known as Mr. Zhuang
Ruping (Age 57)

Chairman, Chief Executive Officer
Mr. Chong has over 20 years of relevant experience in the
jewellery and investment industry. Mr. Chong was appointed as
an executive Director of the Company on 17 February 2016. He
has been the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer of the
Company since 1 December 2023.

Ms. LI Xia (Age 50)

Ms. Li was the executive vice president of Shanghai Shenggiu
Investment Development Limited. She was responsible for
administration and human resource management, marketing
operations and brand promotion. Ms. Li graduated from Central
Luzon State University, Republic of the Philippines with a
degree of Bachelor of Science in Business Administration. Ms.
Li has been an Executive Director of the Group since 3 July
2012.

*  For identification purpose only
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. CHEN Yin (Age 42)

Mr. Chen was an entrepreneur in the Mainland China, who
held senior positions in various private companies principally
engaged in luxury goods trading business. Mr. Chen obtained
the Diploma of Graduate Gemologist, Diploma of Diamonds and
Diploma of Colored Stones from the Gemological Institute of
America. Mr. Chen has been as an Executive Director of the
Group since 3 July 2012.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

Mr. LAM Tin Faat (Age 48)
Resigned on 20 June 2023

Mr. Lam holds a bachelor degree of business administration
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong. He has more
than 10 years of experience in financial audit, accounting and
financial management. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales. Mr. Lam is also the sole proprietor of TF Lam &
Company, a CPA practice in Hong Kong, and a director of Top
Team Secretary Limited.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (continued)

Mr. POON Hon Yin (Age 58)
Appointed on 20 June 2023

Mr. Poon has been the company secretary, financial controller,
and an authorized representative of Innovative Pharmaceutical
Biotech Limited, a listing company in Hong Kong (0399.
HK) since 14 May 2013. He is qualified as a Certified Public
Accountant registered with the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and is also a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Poon
has been an independent non-executive Director since 20 June
2023.

Ms. NA Xin (Age 43)

Ms. Na was the chief operating officer of Shenzhen Jiuha Cai
Jewellery Co., Ltd, a company specialised in qualified jewellery
trading business from 2008 to 2012. Ms. Na completed her
Bachelor's degree in English in the School of Humanities and
Social Science of Beijing Jiaotong University (formerly known
as the Northern Jiaotong University) in 2003. Ms. Na has been
an independent non-executive Director of the Group since
1 December 2014.

Ms. ZHAO Xiaxia (Aged 44)

Ms. Zhao obtained a college diploma of history education in
Qingdao University* in 2000. She has been serving as the
assistant to the chairman and deputy general manager of a PRC
jewellery company for several years, principally responsible for
executive, management, and coordination work. Ms. Zhao has
been an independent non-executive Director since 9 July 2018.

i For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B 2R E

Grant Thornton
2 [=]

To the members of Yu Tak International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yu
Tak International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) set out on pages 43 to 148,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on

these matters.

Existence and valuation of inventories

Refer to note 2.7, note 4 and note 18 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Key Audit Matter

As at 31 December 2023, the Group
had inventories of HK$44,513,000.
Inventories are carried at the lower of
cost and net realisable value.

The Group's inventories mainly
comprised gold and jewellery
products which are subject to risk
of changes in market value. In
determining the net realisable value,
estimates and judgements are applied
by the management in respect of the
economic condition, forecast market
price and marketability of products.

We considered this as key audit
matter due to the significance of
inventories (approximately 39% of
total assets) and the involvement
of management judgement and
estimation on the net realisable value
of inventories.
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How the matter was addressed in
our audit

Our audit procedures to the existence
and valuation of inventories included
the following:

e attended physical inventory counts
at year end and performed” two-
way" count on a sample basis;

* inspected the external laboratory
reports on the authenticity of gold
and jewellery products for the
samples selected by us;

e obtained an understanding of
management’s process for
identification of slow-moving
inventories and estimation of net
realisable value of inventories;

e assessed, on a sample basis,
the accuracy of the ageing of
inventories; and

e tested the net realisable value
of inventories with reference to
subsequent sales information and
external market price data, on a
sample basis.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B 2R E

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises all the information included in the
2023 annual report of the Company, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors assisted by the Audit Committee are responsible for
overseeing the Group's financial reporting process.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B2 RENHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90
of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981 and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

° evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2R E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

° conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

° evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

° obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B2 RENHRE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR R EA SRR RARENSE
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED &)
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, MEZEAEZTE@EBNEZIED » HIPREPLSE
we determined those matters that were of most significance in  IEHANHGEMBRERNEAS TIERAETE -
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current MEKEHREFEIE - RIEEEIERTATA
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe F#HBHFEE s RESNBELT @ BMR
these matters in our auditor's report unless law or regulation AFBEHZE=BEIAEEENTRZREBHEA
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely RABHSEZEAOFNZM AERRETRHEE - &
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be BRI fIeMXEEIHRE P M EE1E o
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences

of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

Grant Thornton Hong Kong Limited HE(BEB)SHMEKAAERAT
Certified Public Accountants HEZETED

11th Floor, Lee Garden Two a8

28 Yun Ping Road R 2

Causeway Bay B E 285

Hong Kong FIE —HB1142

28 March 2024 —E-mWE=F=+NH

Han Pui Yu s M %y

Practising Certificate No.: P07101 HMEFEZRI  PO7101
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

%;T_A =\/

Hith 2 H W &R

for the year ended 37 December 2023 #{2 —F = =

=F+_A=1+—HItFE

2023 2022
—B-=F g
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B aE FET T
Revenue WA 5 21,422 28,785
Other income H bl 2= 7 1,613 1,723
Change in inventories FEEE) 576 (2,921)
Purchase of goods BEEM (9,079) (6,147)
Professional fees HEXEH (3,445) (6,045)
Employee benefits expense EEEFHAX 8 (13,955) (11,960)
Depreciation e 9 (1,750) (1,456)
Expected credit loss (“ECL") FEUE B ERFR - M EIGRIA K&
allowance on trade receivables, BeUNEHEEZEHRER
other receivables and deposits, and ER(TEREEEE]BE -
contract assets, net SRR 9 (364) 2)
Other expenses HAtbFx 9 (8,722) (10,260)
Reversal of write-down of inventories  MURF & # D 9 2 1,204
Finance costs M%ER 10 (113) (45)
Loss before income tax MERATS BRI E 1R 9 (13,815) (7,124)
Income tax expense PRSI 1 (33) (171)
Loss for the year FRER (13,848) (7.295)
Other comprehensive expense Hib2HEH X
Items that will not be reclassified AT EEN P HE B 2 HE -
subsequently to profit or loss:
Financial assets at fair value BAnBEGFAHMEERKEZ
through other comprehensive (Hﬁ@f'ﬁf (BT AR M 2 E U
income (“FVOCI") - net #=NemEE-— AR EER
movement in fair value reserve HEB)FRECT )
(non-recycling) (4,025) 655
tems that will be reclassified RE#HeEH S EZBm o IHE
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange loss on translation of B IINZETE B 755 S 5k O B 5 1
financial statements of foreign B
operations (1,487) (2,773)
Other comprehensive expense for FREMZERX
the year (5,512) (2,118)
Total comprehensive expense for FRE2MEMAXAEE
the year (19,360) (9,413)
S FFER HERRERERAT 43



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
HERakEtEERER

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —FE - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2023 2022
—B-=F —F-—
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
i FET FET
Loss for the year attributable to: R FEREE :

Owners of the Company PAN/NETEZ 2= /N (12,405) (6,915)
Non-controlling interests JEFE B R (1,443) (380)
(13,848) (7,295)

Total comprehensive expense B2 EAXARE

attributable to:

Owners of the Company iN/NEIE ¥ =N (17,854) (9,173)
Non-controlling interests FEHE I 1 fe 2 (1,506) (240)
(19,360) (9,413)

Loss per share
Basic and diluted

The notes on pages 51 to 148 are an integral part of these
consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MR R 3R

as at 31 December 2023 R-—FE—-=#+_-H=+—H

2023 2022
—E_=F —EFE-—
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M T T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERAE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y -~ BB MR 14 2,037 1,123
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 1,829 2,249
Other financial assets HmemEE 17 20,853 24,878
24,719 28,250
Current assets RBEE
Inventories FE 18 44,513 43,937
Contract assets BHEE 19 147 2,228
Trade receivables FEWE 5 BR 3K 20 3,061 1,525
Other receivables, deposits and HbEWEIE ~ e RIBN IR
prepayments 21 21,475 23,601
Tax recoverable G qEE e 16 =
Cash and bank balances RE RIRITIFH 22 21,031 23,438
90,243 94,729
Current liabilities nEBEE
Trade payables FETE SRR 23 1,448 494
Other payables and accrued charges  EfhjEFIEKLTEIRE A 24 7,073 5,244
Contract liabilities aHaE 19 8,411 6,776
Amount due to a director JEF—REERIE 25 12,548 5,779
Lease liabilities HEBE 26 1,037 735
Tax payable FEI IR 183 189
30,700 19,217
Net current assets REBEEFE 59,543 75,512
Total assets less current liabilities ZELFEBABERS 84,262 103,762
Non-current liability FREAE
Lease liabilities HEBE 26 1,088 1,685
Net assets BEFE 83,174 102,077
R EEN HEERERERAT 45



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e BRI R

as at 31 December 2023 R-FE—-=#+—-H=+—H

2023 2022
—B-=F —F-—
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FT5E FET T
EQUITY R
Share capital gz 27 194,769 194,769
Reserves i (113,277) (95,423)
Equity attributable to owners of KATHEE AR
the Company 81,492 99,346
Non-controlling interests FEFE IS 1,682 2,731
Total equity RREREE 83,174 102,077
Li Xia Chong Yu Ping
=R MY
Director Director
EF EE
The notes on pages 51 to 148 are an integral part of these FES51 2148 B MM FEBA I Fir & M5 W
consolidated financial statements. FE)—E o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
mEERSER

for the year ended 31 December 2023 &% —&F —

=Fr-—A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAAREARE
Fair value Non-
Share Share  Exchange  Capital  reserve [non-  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium*  reserve*  reserve* recycling)* losses* Total  interests equity
DEERE bt
R BeER fERE ERE  (FTEE)  EdER i BEs  BEaE
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000
TAn  TEn  TEn TER T TRr TR TEL TER
Balance at 1 January 2022 RoZCZE-R-BiER 194769 218532 Q864 (223) U203 [3BYE 108519 - 108519
Loss for the year FhER - - - - - 6915 (6919 80 (7.9
Other comprehensive expense: EhRERY
- Exchange (loss)/gain on translation -BEEN S RaRIER
of financial statements of foreign (BE)/ W
operations S o (2913) - - - (2913) 140 2711
- Financial assets at FVOC! - net -BRAERHALMAEREY
movement i fai value reserve fnon- SHEE-L7BERERD
recycling) FE(f7gE) - - - - 655 . 655 - 655
Totel comprfiensie expenselfncome for ~ FRAAFR)/hid
the year - - (2913) = 655 (6,915 9,173 (400 9413
Capital contrbutons from non-controllng FHRERTE
Interests - - - - - - - 291 29N
Balance at 31 December 2022 ROF-ZEFCR=T-BOEE oo 2850 6T Q%) W88 (B08) 9936 211 10207
T OFFR HERRERERAR 47



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
EEREHR

for the year ended 31 December 2023 #2 =& —

ZFr—A=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

FAAREARE
Fair value Non-
Share Share  Exchange  Capital  reserve (non-  Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium*  reserve*  reserve* recycling* losses* Total interests equity
DMEERE FEHk
B BeER JERE ERE  (FUEE)  EdER i B8 hESE
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
TAn TR TEn  TER T TAn TR TEn TEn
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-E-=E-f-AHEH 194769 218532 (5777)  (2239) 2,878 (330821) 99,346 271 102,01
Loss for the year EnER
Other comprehensive income: EfAEYE: = = = - - (12408) (12405 (1443  (13849)
- Exchange gan on transltion of financal ~ ~EEEIEHIERERY
statements of foreign operations Bk - - (1,424) - - - (1.424) (63 (1.487)
- Finencial assets at FVOC| - net -BRA BRI AMAEREY
movement in far value reserve (non- SHEE-07BEEERD
recycling) FE(AT8E) = - - - (4,025) - (402) - [402)
Total comprehensive income/lexpense) for ERRTRE/(R%)8E
the year - - (1424) - (4,025) (12405) (17854 (1506)  (19,360)
Capital contrbutons from non-controling FHRERTE
interests - - - - - - - 457 457
Balance at 31 December 2023 RoBCZETZRZT-BNER  teae0 21882 (1201)  [22%9) 083 (34326) #1492 1682 83174

*

statement of financial position.

The notes on pages 51 to 148 are an integral part of these

consolidated financial statements.

These reserves accounts comprise the Group's deficit of reserves *
of HK$113,277,000 (2022: HK$95,423,000) in the consolidated

95,423,000/ 7T) °

%51

REV—HBD o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEBReRER

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —FE - =+ _-A=+—HIFFZ

2023 2022
—E_=F —EFE-—
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
BT 5T FET T
Cash flows from operating activities RERETE2EERE
Loss before income tax HBRFT1EH A ESIE (13,815) (7,124)
Adjustments for: T
Depreciation e 9 1,750 1,456
Net loss on disposal/written off of HEMWEYE - BE
property, plant and equipment L2 FEE 9 154 71
Gain on early termination of leases, net RELIEHE 2 WS
JHEE - (16)
Interest income F B Es 7 (117) (18)
ECL allowance on trade receivables, JEWE SRR - HAbpE
other receivables and deposits, and WA R AR E
contract assets, net NEECTBHREEES
BRE TR 9 364 2
Interest expense FERX 10 113 45
Reversal of write-down of inventories Mo EHEE (2) (1,204)
Unrealised loss on foreign exchange b H R B IR 18 3,937 4,444
Operating loss before working capital BEEESEHR 2 LE
changes 518 (7,616) (2,344)
(Increase)/decrease in inventories =FE gm Jmd (1,787) 692
Decrease in contract assets GHIBEER D 2,042 558
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables R SRS
(gm) Ed (1,656) 7,473
(Increase)/decrease in other receivables, HmEWRIE - ke &k
deposits and prepayments TEftERIE (Em)
e (1,420) 2,754
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables FERHE SR
#m,/ Ol 976 (4,082)
Increase in other payables and accrued Eth eI RTARR B
charges and amount due to a director RAUREN—RES
FRIBIE N 4,069 2,029
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AHaEEMS
ORt ) 1,680 (2,451)
Cash (used in)/generated from operations KEER (BR) EXE
ik (3.712) 4,629
Income tax paid EfFTEH (55) (54)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BETE (BF) EALE
operating activities R FEE (3,767) 4,675
R EEN HEERERERAT 49



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

mEBRTRER

for the year ended 31 December 2023 &% —&F —

ZFr—A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—B-=F —F-—
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
FI5E FET T
Cash flows from investing activities RERETE2EESRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  BBE®Z  BE MK (1,920) (765)
Interest received BB 117 18
Net cash used in investing activities KEZEEFH 2 e F5E (1,803) (747)
Cash flows from financing activities REETB2EERE
Payment of lease liabilities SNEERE 34 (910) (482)
Advance from a director —REFBX 34 4,552 1,615
Repayment to a director M—RBEFEERER 34 (61) (16)
Net cash generated from financing BEEEELE RS FE
activities 3,581 1,117
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash fE%&ﬁ%%FWZ
equivalents W) IR (1,989) 4,945
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January )5] AzRekRe
%ﬁ ) 23,438 19,562
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, EXREH) B
net (418) (1,069)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 RT-ZA=+—HzE2
December, represented by cash and RESEEY RS
bank balances RERITHER 21,031 23,438
The notes on pages 51 to 148 are an integral part of these 51 F148B MM FEK I EHEAMEHREN—

consolidated financial statements.

B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company
with limited liability. The address of its registered office
is Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda and its principal place of business is Hong Kong.
The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”)
are principally engaged in the (i) development, sale and
implementation of enterprise software and provision of
professional services, (ii) design and sales of gold and
jewellery products, (iii) design, production and sales of
smart rehabilitation products and (iv) investment holding.
The Group’s operations are based in Hong Kong and the
People's Republic of China (the "PRC").

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 were approved for issue by the board
of directors on 28 March 2024.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These annual consolidated financial statements
have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") which
collective term includes all applicable individual
HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
("HKASs") and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and the accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements also comply
with the applicable disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and include the
applicable disclosure requirements of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”).
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ARBIREMBAR (S AEE])EE
EOHFE  HERBREREMF - 2H
BEERD (IRFIRHEEETMKREE
m (i) REF - EERHESEREER -
R(vIREEZR - AEBZ LEREMWREE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —FE - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

52

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The material accounting policies that have been used
in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements are summarised below. These policies
have been consistently applied to all the years
presented unless otherwise stated. The adoption
of new and amended HKFRSs and the impacts on
the Group’s consolidated financial statements, if
any, are disclosed in note 3.

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis, except for
financial assets at FVOCI which are stated at fair
values. The measurement bases are fully described
in the accounting policies below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates
and assumptions are used in preparation of the
consolidated financial statements. Although these
estimates are based on management’s best
knowledge and judgement of current events and
actions, actual results may ultimately differ from
those estimates. The areas involving a higher
degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in
note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries made up to 31 December each year.

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The
Group controls an entity when it is exposed, or has
rights, to variable returns from its involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing
whether the Group has power over the entity, only
substantive rights relating to the entity (held by the
Group and others) are considered.

The Group includes the income and expenses of a
subsidiary in the consolidated financial statements
from the date it gains control until the date when
the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between group
companies are eliminated in preparing the
consolidated financial statements. Where unrealised
losses on sales of intra-group asset are reversed on
consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for
impairment from the Group's perspective. Amounts
reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries
have been adjusted where necessary to ensure
consistency with the accounting policies adopted
by the Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity on a
subsidiary not attributable directly or indirectly to the
Company, and in respect of which the Group has
not agreed any additional terms with the holders of
those interests which would result in the Group as
a whole having a contractual obligation in respect
of those interests that meets the definition of a
financial liability. For each business combination,
the Group can elect to measure any non-controlling
interests either at fair value or at their proportionate
share of the subsidiary’s net identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —FE - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

54

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position within
equity, separately from the equity attributable to the
owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in
the results of the Group are presented on the face
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the
total profit or loss and total comprehensive income
for the year between non-controlling interests and
the owners of the Company.

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in a loss of control are accounted for
as equity transactions, whereby adjustments are
made to the amounts of controlling interests within
consolidated equity to reflect the change in relative
interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill
and no gain or loss is recognised.

In the Company's statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less
any impairment loss unless the subsidiary is held for
sale or included in a disposal group. Cost includes
directly attributable costs of investment.

The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividends received
and receivable at the reporting date. All dividends
whether received out of the investee’s pre or post-
acquisition profits are recognised in the Company's
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 &% —&F —

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3

Foreign currency translation

The consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$"), which is also the
functional currency of the Company.

In the individual financial statements of the
consolidated entities, foreign currency transactions
are translated into the functional currency of the
individual entity using the exchange rates prevailing
at the dates of the transactions. At the reporting
date, monetary assets and liabilities denominated
in foreign currencies are translated at the foreign
exchange rates ruling at that date. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the reporting date
retranslation of monetary assets and liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated (i.e. only translated using the exchange
rates at the transaction date).

In the consolidated financial statements, all individual
financial statements of foreign operations, originally
presented in a currency different from the Group's
presentation currency, have been converted into
HKS$. Assets and liabilities have been translated into
HK$ at the closing rates at the reporting date. Income
and expenses have been converted into HK$ at the
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates, or at
the average rates over the reporting period provided
that the exchange rates do not fluctuate significantly.
Any differences arising from this procedure have
been recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated separately in the exchange reserve
in equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 &2 — & —

2.

56

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised
at acquisition cost, including any cost directly
attributable to bringing the assets to the location
and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by the Group’s
management. They are subsequently stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses (note 2.13), if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of assets less their residual values over their
estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, at the following rates per annum:

20% to 33':%
10% to 50%
20% to 25%
25% to 30%

Leasehold improvements
Computer and office equipment
Furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles

Estimates of residual value and useful life are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each
reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is
determined as the difference between the sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
is recognised in the profit or loss.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the
replaced part is derecognised. All other costs, such
as repairs and maintenance, are charged to the profit
or loss during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5

Financial instruments
Recognition and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when the Group becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the
financial asset expire, or when the financial asset
and substantially all of its risks and rewards are
transferred. A financial liability is derecognised when
it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Financial assets

Classification and initial measurement of financial
assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component and are measured
at the transaction price in accordance with HKFRS 15
"Revenue from Contracts with Customers” ("HKFRS
15", all financial assets are initially measured at fair
value, in case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL"), plus transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition
of the financial asset.

Financial assets are classified into the following
categories:

- amortised cost;
- FVTPL; or

= FVOCI.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 &2 — & —

2.

58

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and initial measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

The classification is determined by both:

- the entity’s business model for managing the
financial asset; and

- the contractual cash flow characteristics of
the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets
that are recognised in profit or loss are presented
within finance costs or other income, except for ECL
allowances of trade and other receivables which is
presented as a separate line item in profit or loss.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
Debt investments

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amortised cost if
the assets meet the following conditions (and are
not designated as FVTPL):

- they are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold the financial assets and
collect its contractual cash flows; and

- the contractual terms of the financial assets
give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

After initial recognition, these are measured
at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest income from these financial
assets is included in other income in profit or
loss. Discounting is omitted where the effect of
discounting is immaterial. The Group's cash and bank
balances and trade and other receivables (excluding
prepayments and value-added tax recoverable) fall
into this category of financial instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement of financial assets
(Continued)

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as
FVTPL unless the equity investment is not held
for trading purposes and on initial recognition of
the investment, the Group elects to designate
the investment at FVOCI (non-recycling) such that
subsequent changes in fair value are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
“Fair value reserve (non-recycling)” in equity. Such
elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’'s perspective.

The equity instruments at FVOCI are not subject
to impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or
loss in “Fair value reserve (non-recycling)” will not
be reclassified to profit or loss upon disposal of
the equity investments, and will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Dividends from these investments in equity
instruments are recognised in profit or loss when the
Group'’s right to receive the dividends is established.
Dividends are included in “Other income” in profit
or loss.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset
and the net amount presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position when, and only when,
the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to
set off the recognised amounts; and intends either
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and
settle the liability simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —FE - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.5

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and
other payables, amount due to a director and lease
liabilities.

Financial liabilities (other than lease liabilities) are
initially measured at fair value, and, where applicable,
adjusted for transaction costs unless the Group
designated a financial liability at FVTPL.

Subsequently, financial liabilities (other than lease
liabilities) are measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method except for derivatives
which are not designated as hedging instruments in
hedge relationships and financial liabilities designated
at FVTPL, which are carried subsequently at fair
value with gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss.

All interest-related charges are included in finance
costs.

Accounting policies of lease liabilities are set out
in note 2.9.

Trade and other payables and amount due to a
director

Trade and other payables and amount due to a
director are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost, using
the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 =~ =

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets

HKFRS 9's impairment requirements use forward-
looking information to recognise ECL — the "ECL
model”. Instruments within the scope included
loans and other debt-type financial assets measured
at amortised cost, trade receivables and contract
assets recognised and measured under HKFRS 15.

The Group considers a broader range of information
when assessing credit risk and measuring ECL,
including past events, current conditions, reasonable
and supportable forecasts that affect the expected
collectability of the future cash flows of the
instrument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a
distinction is made between:

- financial instruments that have not
deteriorated significantly in credit quality
since initial recognition or that have low credit
risk (“Stage 1"); and

- financial instruments that have deteriorated
significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition and whose credit risk is not low
("Stage 2").

“Stage 3" would cover financial assets that have
objective evidence of impairment at the reporting
date.

“12-month ECL" are recognised for the Stage 1
category while “lifetime ECL" are recognised for
the Stage 2 category.

Measurement of the ECL is determined by a
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses over
the expected life of the financial instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 &2 — & —

2.

62

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets (Continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group
applies a simplified approach in calculating ECL and
recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECL
at each reporting date. These are the expected
shortfalls in contractual cash flows, considering
the potential for default at any point during the life
of the financial assets. In calculating the ECL, the
Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on its historical credit loss experience and
external indicators, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and contract
assets has been grouped based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due. The contract
assets relate to unbilled work in progress have
substantially the same risk characteristics as the
trade receivables for the same types of contracts.
The Group has therefore concluded that the ECL rates
for trade receivables are a reasonable approximation
of the loss rates for the contract assets.

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Group measures the loss allowance for other
receivables equal to 12-month ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, in which case the
Group recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment
of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk
of default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2023 &% —&F —

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial assets at the reporting date with the risk of
default occurring on the financial assets at the date
of initial recognition. In making this assessment, the
Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’'s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;

- significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in
regulatory, business, financial, economic
conditions, or technological environment
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations; and

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the operating results of the debtor.

2.

=Fr-—A=+—HIFE

EXRES

=111 4

BRI E (&)

EMEEREGNEEZREE)

mEBHKA S ENR M T

(&)

RGBS ERAUREERRE
BRIEEFR AEEBNRE®RA
HemEEZEENNRERET N
HREHeMEELRLEENNRR
EITHER - HETZNEE - &%
@A%J’EAE—J;‘EE’JﬁE&E’&ﬁ
B BREATERETEESNLR
5752$32737]Eﬂ—”% BHREEE

T # A E

FHEEERR
ZRIATER :

N

mE} ok

- TR T AIMNB(A ) KA B
EEARNBERRBERRE
Bk

- EERRINETIZIEFRENE
R EEMNE - B
AMEREDEHER KR
B0

= BT X &R £ER
f“)‘c&mi& H B Al 2k T8 5
TRIEE) - ?ﬁEﬁA&fﬁdﬁ%
AHVEBERE AR TF

= EHFALERENERNKTA
H@ERL -

ToFFR HEERERAROE 63



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.

64

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6

Impairment of financial assets and

contract assets (Continued)

Other financial assets measured at amortised cost
(Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition if the
debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk at each reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if it has a low
risk of default, the borrower has strong capacity to
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term and adverse changes in economic and
business conditions in the longer term may, but will
not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower to
fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations.

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when (i)
information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collateral held by
the Group); or (i) the financial assets is 90 days
past due.

Detailed analysis of the ECL assessment of trade
receivables, contract assets and other financial
assets measured at amortised cost are set out in
note 35.4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 =~ =

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7

2.8

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net
realisable value and are determined using the firstin,
first out basis. Net realisable value is the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less
the applicable selling expenses.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the Group
recognises revenue before being unconditionally
entitled to the consideration under the payment
terms set out in the contract. Contract assets are
assessed for ECL in accordance with the policy set
out in note 2.6 and are reclassified to receivables
when the right to the consideration has become
unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer
pays consideration before the Group recognises the
related revenue. A contract liability would also be
recognised if the Group has an unconditional right to
receive consideration before the Group recognises
the related revenue. In such cases, a corresponding
receivable would also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented.
For multiple contracts, contract assets and contract
liabilities of unrelated contracts are not presented
on a net basis.
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2.

66

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Leases
Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee

At inception of a contract, the Group considers
whether a contract is, or contains a lease. A lease
is defined as ‘a contract, or part of a contract, that
conveys the right to use an identified asset (the
underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange
for consideration’. To apply this definition, the Group
assesses whether the contract meets three key
evaluations which are whether:

° the contract contains an identified asset,
which is either explicitly identified in the
contract or implicitly specified by being
identified at the time the asset is made
available to the Group;

o the Group has the right to obtain substantially
all of the economic benefits from use of the
identified asset throughout the period of
use, considering its rights within the defined
scope of the contract; and

o the Group has the right to direct the use of
the identified asset throughout the period of
use. The Group assess whether it has the
right to direct ‘how and for what purpose’
the asset is used throughout the period of
use.

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee

At lease commencement date, the Group recognises
a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the
consolidated statement of financial position. The
right-of-use asset is measured at cost, which is
made up of the initial measurement of the lease
liability, any initial direct costs incurred by the Group,
an estimate of any costs to dismantle and remove
the underlying asset at the end of the lease, and
any lease payments made in advance of the lease
commencement date (net of any lease incentives
received).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
(Continued)

The Group depreciates the right-of-use assets on a
straight-line basis from the lease commencement
date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of
the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term
unless the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership at the end of the lease term. The Group
also assesses the right-of-use assets for impairment
when such indicator exists.

At the commencement date, the Group measures
the lease liability at the present value of the lease
payments unpaid at that date, discounted using
the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group's
incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of
the lease liability are made up of fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable, variable payments
based on an index or rate, and amounts expected
to be payable under a residual value guarantee.
The lease payments also include the exercise
price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payment of penalties
for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate.

Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability will
be reduced for lease payments made and increased
for interest cost on the lease liability. It is remeasured
to reflect any reassessment or lease modification, or
if there are changes in in-substance fixed payments.
The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as expense in the
period on which the event or condition that triggers
the payment occurs.
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2.

68

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9

Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
(Continued)

The Group remeasures lease liabilities whenever:

o there are changes in lease term or in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option,
in which case the related lease liability is
remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using a revised discount rate at the
date of reassessment.

o the lease payments changes due to changes
in market rental rates following a market
rent review, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting
the revised lease payments using the initial
discount rate.

For lease modification that is not accounted for as
a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease
liability based on the lease term of the modified
lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date
of modification. The only exception is any rent
concessions which arose as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and which satisfied the
conditions set out in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16
“leases” ("HKFRS 16”). In such cases, the Group
took advantage of the practical expedient set out
in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised the
change in consideration as if it were not a lease
modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9

2.10

Leases (Continued)

Definition of a lease and the Group as a lessee
(Continued)

Measurement and recognition of leases as a lessee
(Continued)

When the lease is remeasured, the corresponding
adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset,
or profit or loss if the right-of-use asset is already
reduced to zero.

The Group has elected to account for short-term
leases using the practical expedients. Instead of
recognising a right-of-use asset and lease liability, the
payments in relation to these leases are recognised
as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis
over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases
with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
for under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair
value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition
are considered as additional lease payments and
included in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result
of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of
the obligation can be made. Where the time value
of money is material, provisions are stated at the
present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

All provisions are reviewed at each reporting date
and adjusted to reflect the current best estimate.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL

ZFr—A=+—HIFE

2.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Revenue recognition

EXE

FSTHERBE )

2.11 WAER

70

To determine whether to recognise revenue, the
Group follows a b-step process:

1. Identifying the contract with a customer

2. Identifying the performance obligations

8. Determining the transaction price

4. Allocating the transaction price to the

performance obligations

5 Recognising revenue when/as performance
obligation(s) are satisfied

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract
is allocated amongst the various performance
obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling
prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes
any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over
time, when (or as) the Group satisfies performance
obligations by transferring the promised goods or
services to its customers.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other
income recognition policies are as follows:

Jewellery Products

(a) Revenue from the sales of gold and jewellery
products for a fixed fee is recognised when or
as the Group transfers control of the assets
to the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2023 &% —&F —

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Revenue recognition (Continued)

IT Products and Services

(a)

Enterprise software products

Revenue from the development of
customised software is recognised over
time as the Group’s performance creates
and enhances an asset that the customer
controls. The progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation is
measured based on output method, which is
to recognise revenue on the basis of direct
measurements of the value of the services
transferred to the customer to date relative
to the services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance
in transferring control of goods or services.

When the outcome of the contract cannot be
reasonably measured, revenue is recognised
only to the extent of contract costs incurred
that are expected to be recovered.

Warranties associated with enterprise
software products cannot be purchased
separately and are served as an assurance
that the products sold comply with agreed-
upon specifications (i.e. assurance-type
warranties). Accordingly, the Group accounts
for warranties in accordance with HKAS
37 "Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets”.

Maintenance service income is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the terms of the
relevant maintenance service contracts.
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2.

72

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Revenue recognition (Continued)

IT Products and Services (Continued)

(b)

Professional services

Professional services income are recognised
in the period when the services are provided.

Rehabilitation Products

(a)

Revenue from the sales of rehabilitation
products for a fixed fee is recognised when
or as the Group transfers control of the assets
to the customer.

Others

(a)

(b)

Consultancy and management fee income
in respect of technical support, consultancy
services and management services are
recognised in the period when services are
rendered.

Interest income is recognised on a time
proportion basis using the effective interest
method. For financial assets measured at
amortised cost that are not credit-impaired,
the effective interest rate is applied to the
gross carrying amount of the asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their
fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that
the grant will be received and the Group will comply
with all attached conditions. Government grants are
deferred and recognised in profit or loss over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that
the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to income is presented
in gross under “Other income” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 2. EXE;
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

BRI E (&)

=111 4

213 FEMEERE

2.13 Impairment of non-financial assets

The following assets are subject to impairment
testing:

o Property, plant and equipment;
o Right-of-use assets; and
° The Company’s interests in subsidiaries.

The assets are tested for impairment whenever there
are indications that the asset’s carrying amount may
not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately for the amount by which the asset’s
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value,
reflecting market conditions less costs of disposal,
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

For the purposes of assessing impairment,
where an asset does not generate cash inflows
largely independent of those from other assets,
the recoverable amount is determined for the
smallest group of assets that generate cash inflows
independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As
a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating
unit level. Corporate assets are allocated to individual
cash-generating units, when a reasonable and
consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group
of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.13

2.14

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)

Impairment losses recognised for cash-generating
units is charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-
generating unit, except that the carrying value of
an asset will not be reduced below its individual
fair value less cost of disposal, or value in use, if
determinable.

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a
favourable change in the estimates used to determine
the asset's recoverable amount and only to the
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if
no impairment loss had been recognised.

Employee benefits
Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided
through defined contribution plans. In addition,
the employees employed under the Hong Kong
Employment Ordinance are also entitled to long
service payment (“LSP") if the eligibility criteria are
met. The LSP are defined benefits plans.

(a) Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit plan under the Mandatory
Provident Fund (“MPF"”) Schemes Ordinance,
for all of its employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —FE —=F 1+ —-HA=+—HI-F/E

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 2. EARETHE#ME L)
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
2.14 Employee benefits (Continued) 214 EEBRE
(a) Defined contribution plans (Continued) (a) TR E ()
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries REBRHE « 44
which operate in the PRC, Taiwan and o2 E 2B ARETE
Malaysia are required to participate in the B/ESHR BT BN
central pension scheme operated by the local BB 2 P IURIKEETE - %
municipal government. These subsidiaries are EMBARIBRH ©RAE
required to contribute certain percentage of TADLLEPREKRDTE
their payroll costs to the central pension IR o
scheme.
Contributions are recognised as an expense in REEEFNRERBER
profit or loss as employees rendered services HRTIREBEERARY -
during the year. The Group’s obligations AEERBHSTEIZEE
under these plans are limited to the fixed ERNEMNZETE B D
percentage contributions payable. = oo
(b)  Defined benefit plans (b)  TEEEFIETE

The amount of long service benefit that EETEBERATRIEXENE
an employee will receive on cessation of BRTEENRPRSEN S
employment in certain circumstances is B2 ERENRIEFER
defined by reference to the employee’s HENFEMATE - TA1E
length of service and corresponding salary. MEERETNMAEANEER
The legal obligations for any benefits remains AHE o

with the Group.

The LSP obligations recognised in the RErE M BARRRBERO K
consolidated statement of financial position HRESETRAEHRBHER
is the present value of the LSP obligation at HRBESETHEE -

the reporting date.

Management estimates the LSP obligations EBESFMAGFRARE S
annually. This is based on the discount rate, B o WIHIRIEAAIRE « %
the salary growth rate, turnover rate and the SRE - RARERAEHH
expected investment return on offsetable BEE REEGNTERRE
MPF accrued benefits. Discount factors are E¥mmE o BRIR RETI L
determined close to each annual reporting AERFEE2HRAHELR
date by reference to high quality corporate ¥ A e R B S s E
bonds that are denominated in the currency B 21 5 A PR £ 4A B 7F KA 4R A
in which the benefits will be paid and have BEARATNSEEZA A
terms to maturity approximating the terms of BEEFE -

the related defined benefit liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2. SUNMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b)

Defined benefit plans (Continued)

Defined benefit costs are categorised as
follows:

o service cost (including current and past
service cost, and gains and losses on
curtailments and settlements);

° net interest expense or income; and

° remeasurement.

Service cost on the Group’s defined benefit
plan is included in employee benefits
expense. Employee contributions, all of
which are independent of the number of
years of service, are treated as a reduction
of service cost.

Net interest expense on the net defined
benefit liability is included in employee
benefits expenses.

Gains and losses resulting from
remeasurements of the net defined benefit
liability, comprising actuarial gains and losses,
are included in other comprehensive income
and are not reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 {2 —FE —=F 1+ —-HA=+—HI-F/E

2. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL 2. EARETHE#ME L)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.14 Employee benefits (Continued) 214 EEBRE)
Short-term employee benefits FTRE B 45
Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised BEEZHFBRNEEEEEZ AR
when they accrue to employees. A provision is RWEHEEHREZEERAHILR
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as ERR R mIES ERENER
a result of services rendered by employees up to MmyEETR -
the reporting date.
Non-accumulating compensated absences such as T ZBEZ2THFBROERRE
sick leave and maternity leave are not recognised BR) » IR AT HER
until the time of leave.

2.15 Accounting for income tax 215 FiEBizgstA%E
Income tax comprises current tax and deferred tax. FriS T e 45 BN BT I8 SR E R IR -
Current income tax assets and/or liabilities comprise BEFSHEEN, SHAaBERER
those obligations to, or claims from, fiscal authorities HsidE2mAAF(ER 2R B HE
relating to the current or prior reporting period, that AT ABEE REARARCE
are unpaid at the reporting date. They are calculated THKEBEERZRE - THIRE
according to the tax rates and tax laws applicable to FREZRD RN - BB ﬁﬁftﬁlﬁﬂf'ﬁ
the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the ZEARER LTI AN
taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax s ﬁ;’zjzfé\f/\ZFﬁﬁm@i’j EIJ)&
assets or liabilities are recognised as a component BENHBEREY
of tax expense in profit or loss.
Deferred tax is calculated using the liability method on EEFRBENIZRERAPAEENE
temporary differences at the reporting date between ERIEHRERZEEELRAS Q Z
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the MEMNETR=BUBELTE
financial statements and their respective tax bases. A ITEEE BT ERE
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for EZHEBEARAAR - ELER Iﬁﬁ%)}
all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax LA A R T SRS =58 « nJ 4S8R
assets are recognised for all deductible temporary T8 B8 LA K Eo fth oK 8 R R 15 E BR 7
differences, tax losses available to be carried forward R MELARTRE AR ERTR (B
as well as other unused tax credits, to the extent that IR A ER 258 A LA H015
it is probable that taxable profit, including existing FREERE C AERBEEREARE
taxable temporary differences, will be available FARRFEREE 2 BRAR -

against which the deductible temporary differences,
unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be
utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 &% —&F —

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Accounting for income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business
combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither taxable nor accounting profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary differences
and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies the requirements in HKAS 12 to the lease
liabilities and the related assets separately. The
Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to
the lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which
the deductible temporary difference can be utilised
and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences.

Deferred tax is calculated, without discounting, at
tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
the liability is settled or the asset realised, provided
they are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date.

Changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are
recognised in profit or loss, or in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity if they relate to items
that are charged or credited to other comprehensive
income or directly to equity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B RR I

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —FE - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

80

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Accounting for income tax (Continued)

When different tax rates apply to different levels of
taxable income, deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using the average tax rates that are
expected to apply to the taxable income of the
periods in which the temporary differences are
expected to reverse.

The determination of the average tax rates requires
an estimation of (i) when the existing temporary
differences will reverse and (ii) the amount of future
taxable profit in those years. The estimate of future
taxable profit includes:

- income or loss excluding reversals of
temporary differences; and

- reversals of existing temporary differences.

Current tax assets and current tax liabilities are
presented in net if, and only if:

(a) the Group has the legally enforceable right
to set off the recognised amounts; and

(b) intends either to settle on a net basis, or
to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 =~ =

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Accounting for income tax (Continued)

The Group presents deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities in net if, and only if:

(a) the entity has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities; and

(b) the deferred tax assets and the deferred tax
liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the
same taxation authority on either:

(i) the same taxable entity; or

(ii) different taxable entities which intend
either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise
the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to
be settled or recovered.

2.16 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and
prepares segment information based on the
regular internal financial information reported to
the executive directors for their decisions about
resources allocation to the Group’s business
components and for their review of the performance
of those components. The business components
in the internal financial information reported to the
executive directors are determined following the
Group's major product and service lines.
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2.

82

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.16 Segment reporting (Continued)

The Group has identified the following reportable
segments:

o Jewellery Products: design and sales of gold
and jewellery products

o IT Products and Services: provision of
information technology and professional
services and sales of products including
enterprise software products

o Rehabilitation Products: design, production
and sales of smart rehabilitation products

Each of these operating segments is managed
separately as each of the product and service lines
requires different resources as well as marketing
approaches. All inter-segment transfers are carried
out at arm’s length prices.

The measurement policies the Group uses for
reporting segment results under HKFRS 8 “Operating
Segments” are the same as those used in its
consolidated financial statements prepared under
HKFRSs.

No asymmetrical allocations have been applied to
reportable segments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

2.

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Related parties

For the purposes of these consolidated financial
statements, a party is considered to be related to
the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of
that person’s family and if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the
Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management
personnel of the Group or of a parent
of the Group.

(b) the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members
of the same group.

(ii) one entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is
a member).

(iii) the entity and the Group are joint
ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a
third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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2.

84

SUMMARY OF MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17 Related parties (Continued)

(b)

the party is an entity and if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

the entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related
to the Group.

the entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

a person identified in (a)(i) has
significant influence over the entity or
is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

the entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence,
or be influenced by, that person in their dealings
with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

New and amended HKFRSs that are

effective for annual periods beginning on

1 January 2023

In the current year, the Group has applied for the
first time the following new and amended HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA, which are relevant to the
Group's operations and effective for the Group's
consolidated financial statements for the annual
period beginning on 1 January 2023:

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform —
Pillar Two Model Rules

Except for those mentioned below, the adoption
of the new and amended HKFRSs had no material
impact on how the results and financial position of
the Group for the current and prior periods have
been prepared and presented.
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3.

86

ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on
1 January 2023 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 Disclosure of Accounting Policies

The amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to
disclose material accounting policy information
instead of significant accounting policies in its
financial statements. Accounting policy information
is material if, when considered together with
other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments
also provide some guidance on how material policy
information are being identified and provide some
examples of when accounting policy information is
likely to be material.

In March 2021, HKICPA issued HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” to
provide entities with non-mandatory guidance on
how to make materiality judgements when preparing
their general purpose financial statements in
accordance with HKFRS. HKFRS Practice Statement
2 was subsequently revised to provide guidance and
examples on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures.

The amendments to HKAS 1 are applied by the Group
on 1 January 2023 and are applied prospectively.
The amendments have no impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance but has affected
the accounting policies disclosures as set out in note
2 to the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e ISR M EE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 B2 =~ =

3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on
1 January 2023 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 — Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction
between changes in accounting estimates and
changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how
entities use measurement techniques and inputs
to develop accounting estimates. Since the Group's
approach and policy align with the amendments, the
amendments had no impact on the Group's financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 — Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no
longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences, such as
leases and decommissioning obligations. Therefore,
entities are required to recognise a deferred tax
asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary
differences arising from these transactions. These
amendments had no material impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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3.

88

ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.1

New and amended HKFRSs that are
effective for annual periods beginning on
1 January 2023 (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 — International Tax
Reform — Pillar Two Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12 introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules
published by the Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development. The amendments also
introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements
better understand the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two
income taxes, including the disclosure of current tax
related to Pillar Two income taxes separately in the
periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective and
the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable
information of their exposure to Pillar Two income
taxes in periods in which the legislation is enacted
or substantively enacted but not yet in effect. Since
the Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar
Two model rules, the amendments did not have any
impact to the Group.
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs

At the date of authorisation of these consolidated
financial statements, certain new and amended
HKFRSs have been published but are not yet
effective, and have not been adopted early by the
Group.

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and its
HKAS 28 Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to Lease Liability in a Sale and
HKFRS 16 Leaseback?

Amendments to Classification of Liabilities as
HKAS 1 Current or Non-current and

related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5’

Amendments to Non-current Liabilities with
HKAS 1 Covenants?
Amendments to Supplier Finance Arrangements'
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7
Amendments to Lack of exchangeability?
HKAS 21
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025
3 Effective date not yet determined

The directors of the Company anticipate that all of
the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group's
accounting policy for the first period beginning on
or after the effective date of the pronouncement.
Information on new and amended HKFRSs that are
expected to have impact on the Group's accounting
policies is provided below. Other new and amended
HKFRSs are not expected to have a material impact
on the Group's consolidated financial statements.
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90

ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 “Sale or
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture”

The amendments remove an acknowledged
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” and those
in HKAS 28 “Investments in Associates and Joint
Ventures” in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture and require that a full gain or loss is
recognised when a transaction involves a business
(whether it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A
partial gain or loss is recognised when a transaction
involves assets that do not constitute a business,
even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary.

The effective date of the amendments has been
postponed indefinitely with earlier adoption
permitted.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 “Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback”

The amendments specify that, in subsequent
measurement of the lease liability arising from a sale
and leaseback transaction (where the transaction
qualifies as a sale under HKFRS 15), a seller-lessee
determines “lease payments” and “revised lease
payments” in a way that does not result in the
recognition of a gain or loss that relates to the
right of use it retains. It would reduce the lease
liability as if the “lease payments” estimated at the
date of transaction had been paid. Any difference
between those lease payments and the amounts
actually paid is recognised in profit or loss. The
amendments do not prescribe a particular method
of subsequent measurement. The seller-lessee will
need to develop and apply an accounting policy
that results in relevant and reliable information in
accordance with HKAS 8.
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 “Lease Liability in a Sale
and Leaseback” (Continued)

The illustrative examples to HKFRS 16 have also
been amended. Example 24 now illustrates a sale
and leaseback transaction with fixed payments and
above-market terms. A new Example 25 illustrates
a sale and leaseback transaction with variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate.
The illustrative examples also clarify that the liability,
that arise from a sale and leaseback transaction that
qualifies as a sale applying HKFRS 15, is a lease
liability.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 are effective for annual
reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2024
and are applied by seller-lessee retrospectively to
sale and leaseback transactions entered into after
the date of initial application of HKFRS 16. Earlier
application is permitted.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current” (“2020 Amendments”)
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 and Amendments to HKAS 1
Liabilities with Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”)

“Non-current

The amendments provide further guidance to clarify
how to classify debt and other liabilities as current
or non-current which are summarised as follows:

It clarifies that a liability is non-current if an
entity has a right (instead of unconditional
right as stated before the amendments) to
defer settlement of the liability for at least
twelve months from the reporting date. This
right has to be existed at the reporting date,
regardless of whether the lender tests for
compliance at the date or at a later date;

Any expectations about events after the
reporting date do not impact the assessment
made at the reporting date as to the
classification of the liability; and

“Settlements” are newly defined as a
transfer to the counterparty that results in the
extinguishment of the liability. The transfer
could be of cash, other economic resources
(e.g. goods or services), or entity’'s own
equity instruments. Thus, if the counterparty
conversion option is classified as liability
under HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments:
Presentation” (“HKAS 32"), the transfer
of equity instruments by exercising the
conversion option constitute settlement of
liability for the purpose of current or non-
current classification of liabilities. One
exception to the definition is that if the
counterparty conversion option is classified
as equity in accordance with HKAS 32, the
transfer of equity instruments by exercising
the conversion option does not constitute
settlement of liability and would be
disregarded when determining whether the
liability is current or non-current.
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current” (“2020 Amendments”)
and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 and Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current
Liabilities with Covenants” (“2022 Amendments”)
(Continued)

2022 Amendments issued in 2022 clarified that
only covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, which an entity must comply with on
or before the reporting date (even if the covenant
is only assessed after the reporting date) affect
the classification of that liability as current or non-
current. Those covenants to be complied with after
the reporting date do not affect such classification
at the reporting date.

Besides, the 2022 Amendments required an entity
to provide additional disclosure when a liability
arising from a loan agreement is classified as non-
current and the entity’'s right to defer settlement
is contingent on compliance with future covenants
within twelve months.

The 2022 Amendments also deferred the effective
date of the 2020 Amendments to the annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024, in
which both amendments are to be applied as a
package and apply retrospectively. Earlier application
is permitted.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 “Supplier
Finance Arrangements”

The amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify
the characteristics of supplier finance arrangement
(“SFA") and require additional disclosures to
enhance the transparency of SFAs and their effects
on an entity’s liabilities, cash flows and exposure to
liquidity risk.

The additional disclosures required by the
amendments complement the existing disclosures
in HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7. They require entities to
disclose:

° the terms and conditions of the arrangement;

o the amount of the liabilities that are part of
the arrangement, breaking out the amounts
for which the suppliers have already received
payment from the finance providers, and
stating where the liabilities are included on
the statement of financial position;

o ranges of payment due dates; and

° liquidity risk information. The amendments,
with certain specific transition reliefs, are
applicable for annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2024. Earlier
application is permitted.
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.2

Issued but not yet effective HKFRSs
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 21 “Lack of exchangeability ”

The amendments to HKAS 21 clarify the approach
that should be taken by entities when they are
reporting foreign currency transactions, translating
foreign operations, or presenting financial statements
in a different currency, and there is a long-term lack
of exchangeability between the relevant currencies.

The amendments:

a) introduce a definition of whether a currency
is exchangeable and the process by which
an entity should assess this exchangeability
(i.e. a currency is exchangeable when there
is an ability to obtain the other currency
(with a normal administrative delay), and
the transaction would take place through a
market or exchange mechanism that creates
enforceable rights and obligations); and

b) set out a framework under which an entity
can determine the spot exchange rate at
the measurement date (by an observable
exchange rate without adjustment or another
estimation technique) when a currency lacks
exchangeability.

Besides, the amendments also require an entity to
disclose the additional information when it estimates
a spot exchange rate due to lack of exchangeability.

The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2025. Earlier
application is permitted.
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ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implication of the MPF-LSP offsetting

mechanism

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government
(the "Government"”) gazetted the Hong Kong
Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance
2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”), which will take
effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). The
Amendment Ordinance abolishes the use of the
accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
MPF contributions to offset LSP in respect of an
employee’s service from the Transition Date (the
“Abolition”). In addition, the last month’s salary
immeidately preceding the Transition Date is used
to calculate the portion of the LSP in respect of
the employment period before the Transition Date.

Prior to 1 January 2023, the Group applied practical
expedient in paragraph 93(b) of HKAS 19 (the
“Practical Expedient”) to account for the offsetable
MPF benefits as deemed employee contributions
to reduce the current service costs in the period in
which the related services were rendered.

In July 2023, the HKICPA published “Accounting
implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism in Hong Kong" (“the Guidance”)
that provides guidance for the accounting for the
offsetting mechanism and the impact aring from
the abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism.

To better reflect the substance of the abolition of
the offsetting mechanism, the Group has applied the
above HKICPA guidance and changed its accounting
policy in connection with its LSP liability, which
should result in a catch-up profit or loss adjustment
in June 2022 for the service cost up to that date
and consequential impacts on current service cost,
interest expense and remeasurement effects from
changes in actuarial assumptions for the rest of
2022, with the corresponding adjustment to the
comparative carrying amount of the LSP liability.
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3.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND
AMENDED HKFRSs AND CHANGES
IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

3.3 New HKICPA guidance on the accounting
implication of the MPF-LSP offsetting
mechanism (Continued)

The abolition of the offsetting mechanism did not
have a material impact on the Group's profit or
loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
Group’s and the Company’s financial position as at
31 December 2022. In light of the immaterial impact,
the Group did not apply the change in its accounting
policy retrospectively.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and
are based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectations of future events that are believed
to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below:

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets

If circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a
long-lived asset may not be recoverable, the asset may
be considered “impaired” and an impairment loss may
be recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 “Impairment
of Assets”.

These assets are tested for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. When such a decline has
occurred, the carrying amount is reduced to the recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use.

In determining the value in use, the expected cash flows
generated by the assets are discounted to their present
value, which requires significant estimation.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
were HK$2,037,000 (2022: HK$1,123,000) (note 14) and
HK$1,829,000 (2022: HK$2,249,000) (note 15) respectively.

Estimation of fair value of financial instruments

not traded in an active market

As at 31 December 2023, financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market including unlisted equity
investments and unlisted private equity fund were carried
at fair value of HK$20,288,000 (2022: HK$24,487,000)
and HK$565,000 (2022: HK$391,000) respectively. The
fair values are determined by using valuation techniques,
details of which are set out in note 35.6. This involves
developing estimates and assumptions consistent with how
market participants would price the instrument. The Group
bases its assumptions on observable data as far as possible
but this is not always available. In that case the Group uses
the best information available. Estimated fair values may
vary from the actual prices that would be achieved in an
arm’s length transaction at the reporting date.

Estimation of impairment of trade receivables,
other receivables and deposits and contract
assets within the scope of ECL

The Group makes allowances on items subjects to ECL
(including trade receivables, other receivables and deposits
and contract assets) based on assumptions about risk of
default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to
the impairment calculation, based on the Group’'s past
history, existing market conditions as well as forward-
looking estimates at each reporting date as set out in note
2.6. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables, other receivables and deposits, and contract
assets amounted to HK$3,061,000 (2022: HK$1,525,000)
(note 20), HK$20,592,000 (2022: HK$21,733,000) (note
21) and HK$147,000 (2022: HK$2,228,000) (note 19)
respectively.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING 4. EESIMATTRHE =)
ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
(Continued)
Estimation of impairment of trade receivables, EHEEFESEEAZERE SR
other receivables and deposits and contract R HttERRERREURENE
assets within the scope of ECL (Continued) EZREMLE (&)
When the actual future cash flows are different from MEBRAKIESREGRINTEE r EE=
expected, such difference will impact the carrying amount Fs S BB R B R SR A B E OB TR
of trade receivables and other items within the scope of HEEEEESERNZEWRE SR EMD
ECL under HKFRS 9 and credit losses in the periods in HEMNEEBERGEEEEGHEZZE
which such estimate has been changed. EE o
Net realisable value of inventories FEZABEFEE
Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling FEZAHRFEARDBEKBRESRMNGL
price in the ordinary course of business, less selling HEBREERY - ZE et JRIBERT
expenses. These estimates are based on the current market TRAREHEEREEERZFEL &R
condition and the historical experience of selling products Bl - TeRBPEFZE#LRFHTF
of similar nature. It could change significantly as a result REFRETEXARMAERZZITHMERE
of changes in customer taste and competitor actions in KEH -
response to severe industry cycle.
Management reassesses these estimates at each reporting EHEBNSE2HAHEGEZEHET o R
date. As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of —_EBE-_=F+-A=+—8 FEZK
inventories was HK$44,513,000 (2022: HK$43,937,000) E1E 44,513,000 (ZFE -4 :
(note 18) 43,937,000 7T) (Mi3E18) ©
REVENUE 5. WA
The Group's principal activities are disclosed in note 1 AREB 2z T BEKEZSERE B HRERH
to these consolidated financial statements. The Group's FIEE  c AEBFACERZWALT :
revenue recognised during the year is as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= - =S
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#& T T
Sales of gold and jewellery products @4 MIKEERISE 6,457 11,181
Sales of enterprise software products ¥ ERHEE 8,346 13,388
Provision of professional services REE RS 1,748 2,775
Sales of rehabilitation products RIEEMEE 4,871 1,441
21,422 28,785
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5.

100

REVENUE (continued) 5. WAwE)
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with BB RHEEREI1SEEHEARRE
customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 EEESHZIRADE
The Group derives revenue from the transfer of goods and REFEUTHEFEE S EREER LR
services over time and at a point in time in the following TiGEERE RIEEESEEE R RRISE
major product and services lines and geographical market: HIA
Sales of Sales of
gold and enterprise Provision of Sales of
jewellery software professional rehabilitation
products products services products Total
HERHKE LERH REHEE BE
EmHE Em#EE (il%: 3 EmEE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET T TET THER
2023 —B-Z=H
Timing of revenue recognition W ATERERE
At a point in time TR fER 6,457 - - 4,871 11,328
Over time RER - 8,346 1,748 - 10,094
6,457 8,346 1,748 4,871 21,422
Geographical markets BT 5
Hong Kong BB - 6,391 - - 6,391
PRC and Taiwan hERGE 6,457 - 1,748 4,871 13,076
Southeast Asia R - 1,955 - - 1,955
6,457 8,346 1,748 4,871 21,422
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5.

REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA@®
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts ERNKREENFE1SHEBRRE
with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15 BEESHZWADEE)
(Continued)
Sales of  Sales of
gold and enterprise  Provision of Sales of
jewellery  software professional rehabilitation
products  products services products Total
BERKE REH RtEX 18
EmiHE EmiHE MR EmiHeE s
HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FET  TERT
2022 —E-F
Timing of revenue recognition W ATERERE
At a point in time R FER 11,181 = = 1,441 12,622
Over time RER - 13,388 2,775 - 16,163
11,181 13,388 2,775 1,441 28,785
Geographical markets BT 5
Hong Kong BB - 6,453 - - 6,453
PRC and Taiwan hERGE 11,181 2,171 2,775 1,441 17,568
Southeast Asia R - 4,764 - - 4,764
11,181 13,388 2,775 1,441 28,785
The geographical location of customers is based on the REMAME Z D EEEEIRHBERE
location at which the services were provided or the goods KEZXNBEERZHEMTE ©
were delivered.
SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. HBBEYL

The executive directors of the Company, being the chief
operating decision maker, have identified the following
products and service lines as operating segments. Details
of which are further described in note 2.16.

These operating segments are monitored and strategic
decisions are made on the basis of adjusted segment
operating results.

ARAATES(NETBLERRE )D&
B TP Em KRB ERIESELDER
BRFBE—PRANKHIFE2.16 -

i
N

4R

i By

BN EMREEE - BEBORTE HIRE
2O RMSE AN -

N

[
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6.

102

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEERE)
Jewellery IT Products Rehabilitation
Products and Services Products Total
BEEm EmRE® BEEER ek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TAET TER
2023 bt 3
Revenue - From external WA -REINBEP
customers 6,457 10,094 4,871 21,422
Reportable segment revenue AE2HRDBKA 6,457 10,094 4,871 21,422
Reportable segment loss before ~ MBRFIEHATEHS
income tax 8 (7,681) (2,233) (3,901) (13,815)
Bank interest income RITH EMezs 1 113 3 117
Depreciation nE (1,113) (230) (407) (1,750)
ECL allowance on trade [EME SR - HAt
receivables, other receivables MR RIEE AR
and deposits, and contract ANEBEEZEHEER
assets, net BERE 58 28 (392) - (364)
Net loss on disposal/written off of — H& /HENE - BE
property, plant and equipment RfE FEE (154) - - (154)
Finance costs BER - (15) (98) (113)
Reversal of write-down of WmEERE
inventories 2 - - 2
Reportable segment assets AERPBEE 265,848 61,288 12,779 339,915
Additions to non-current segment  FRREH 2
assets (other than financial FnBEE
instruments) during the year (£BT AR 221 586 1,677 2,484
Reportable segment liabilities AEHKSBEE 20,524 234,311 1,906 256,741
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEHEBR#®
Jewellery  IT Products Rehabilitation
Products and Services Products Total
EARHE
KEEM EmkRB BREEM B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FET FET
2022 —E-F
Revenue — From external WA - RBE IR
customers 11,181 16,163 1,441 28,785
Reportable segment revenue A2 HHEFHA 11,181 16,163 1,441 28,785
Reportable segment loss before K FTER AT 25D
income tax EREE (4,494) (1,526) (1,104) (7,124)
Bank interest income RITH B 8 8 2 18
Depreciation rE (1,061) (225) (170) (1,456)
ECL allowance on trade FEUE HERFR - HAh
receivables, other receivables FEURIE R IR & DA R
and deposits, and contract BREECTRBEER
assets, net BIERE - T8 94 (14) (82) (2)
Net loss on disposal/written HE/WEME - BEK
off of property, plant and w2 FEE
equipment (44) (27) = (71)
Finance costs BBER (17) (10) (18) (45)
Reversal of write-down of WoRF E R
inventories 1,204 - - 1,204
Reportable segment assets AE2®mNHEE 271,946 66,139 9,848 347,933
Additions to non-current FARENHZ
segment assets (other than FERBEE
financial instruments) during (£BI AR
the year - 45 3,060 3,105
Reportable segment liabilities AEHRHHEaE 10,660 232,342 2,854 245,856
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6.

104

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The totals presented for the Group's reportable segments
reconcile to the Group's key financial figures as presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position are as
follows:

6.

DEER (&)
AEE A 2HH ML 2 MEEEA B

W)
ERARFAEN 2 AEBMEBHEEIE
HERINR

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FAIT

Reportable segment assets AEMHPEE 339,915 347,933
Eliminated upon consolidation e ARRE ¥ (224,953) (224,954)
Group assets rEBZEE 114,962 122,979
Reportable segment liabilities AZHoHBAasE 256,741 245,856
Eliminated upon consolidation RE ARE ¥ (224,953) (224,954)
Group liabilities rEEZEE 31,788 20,902

The Group’s non-current assets (other than financial
instruments) are divided into the following geographical
areas:

AEBEZIFRBDEE(SRTARIN IR
TotERE s

2023 2022

—ZE_= —E-F

HK$'000 HK$'000

T T

Hong Kong B 23 315
PRC and Taiwan ARG E 3,807 3,006
Southeast Asia R 36 51
3,866 3,372

The geographical location of the non-current assets is based
on the physical location of the assets.
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6.

Revenue from customers which individually contributed
over 10% of the Group’s revenue during the years ended

TE—CFf+—A=+—HIFFE

DEER (&)

BARMEREEHEE S -_=FR_T -
F+-AZ+—HIEFERAI0% A EH

31 December 2023 and 2022 is as follows: KEZFHWRALT :
2023 2022
—E-= —F-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FE T TET
Customer A BPEA 6,448 6,399
Customer B! B! N/A* T3E A * 3,200
Customer C? wPC? N/A* 38 A * 4,231
Revenue from Jewellery Products segment. 1 KELBERDBZWA -
Revenue from IT Products and Services segment. KEBNRERRBRED I Z WA
* The corresponding revenue did not individually contribute * HBEWANEFEREAEREE T =

over 10% of the Group's revenue during the year ended

31 December 2023.

OTHER INCOME

=F+TZA=T—HIEFERA10%K
oo

7. Htlks

2023 2022

—ZF—-= —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHETT

Bank interest income IRITF B U ES 117 18

Consultancy and management fee R R EE B

income 410 607
Gain on early termination of leases, REBLIEHE 2 W55

net - 16

Government subsidies NEgiEpE3Et 2 290

Others HAh 1,084 792

1,613 1,723

T =FFW
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106

EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE 8. REERIHXX(BRERESHM)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS)
2023 2022
—E-=F —ZF-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THETT
Wages, salaries and other benefits TITE - FekEMER 12,959 10,880
Pension costs — defined contribution — RIRES A — ERBEFKRETE
plans 996 1,080
13,955 11,960
At 31 December 2023, the Group had no forfeited R-E-_=F+—_A=+—H  XA&EEW
contributions available to reduce its contributions to the 8 It Z Al B AR T 12 EE R R K
pension schemes in future years (2022: HK$Nil). SERR( - —F T8 °
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9.

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9.

Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

TE—CFf+—A=+—HIFFE

HBR A 1584 A 5 18
AT BT ASEEIMA, (G A)

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
Depreciation: E -
- owned assets (note 14) —HBEE (f:E14) 820 878
- right-of-use assets (note 15) —EREEE (FIE15) 930 578
Total depreciation weERs 1,750 1,456
Other expenses: Hbfx :
Auditor's remuneration — audit ZEE NS — ZBRT
services 1,220 900
Net loss on written off of property, WMEEMZE - BE RE&E 2 FEE
plant and equipment 154 71
Lease charges in respect of short EHHENEEER
term leases 300 292
Legal and professional fees FEENEEER 1,701 1,513
Foreign exchange losses, net b E 1R R 564 2,556
Other expenses Hitbfx 4,783 4,928
Total other expenses HAitbF s 4858 8,722 10,260
Cost of inventories recognised as an R AR HEFEERA
expense 8,503 9,068
Cost of services rendered (note) IRERBKA (M) 10,046 13,295
ECL allowance on trade receivables, FEWE SRR - HAbEUERIE R i%
other receivables and deposits, and TUREBHNEE 2 BIEERIE
contract assets, net Bt - 55 364 2
Reversal of write down of inventories U1z E# [0l (2) (1,204)

Note:

Cost of services rendered included staff costs of HK$6,602,000
(2022: HK$7,250,000), which amount is also included in

employee benefits expense (note 8).

BT -

T

BRI (HfEEs) °

IR RIS A B 38 8 Tk 46,602,00058 7T( —
: 7,250,000 70) © Z eI ARE
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10. FINANCE COSTS

10. BIEHR

2023 2022
—E-=F —_E__F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T FAT
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEsBEMBEIH 113 45
11. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FIEHEX
2023 2022
=F—= —E-fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHETT
Current tax — Overseas BVEAFRIE — /g 4N
Current year KEE 33 171
Total income tax expense FriS i ke 33 171
Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided as the Group REEZZE-_=FR-_TE-__F+=-A=
had no assessable profits subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax T—BLEFE AR AEBUVEBEMNS
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022. BAEHHOERT RSN - WA EEEAET
ISRt IR o
For the subsidiaries of the Group in the PRC qualified for M ECERNE—TE R NI EMESTE
“Announcement on Further Implementing the Preferential BEERMNAE) ([20221F F125%) RLER
Income Tax Policies for Micro and Small Enterprises E—SEBRIMICEMSHERRRNA
(Announcement No. 12 [2022])" and “Announcement H)([2023)F B350 AR K E P R E R
on Further Implementing the Preferential Income Tax AIME @ FEERBEEN DR ARE100
Policies for Micro and Small Enterprises (Announcement EBILHEE D H12.5% #5312 20% M T & A4
No. 13 [2023])", for the portion of annual taxable profits B MmN TEAREI1008TTE ARE3008
less than RMB1 million, 12.5% of such amount will be TOEY 5 R HI 25 % #1220 % B B R BB o A<
taxed at 20% and profits within the range of RMB1 million SEEMTEMNBARRNEBEE T _=F
to RMB3 million, 25% of such amount will be taxed at TECF+ A=+ —BIFEBIR
20%. The other subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to 25% BI T RN B FTSE o
PRC Enterprise Income Tax at a rate of 25% for the years
ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
Taxation on overseas profits has been calculated on the 8O I BB I8 T AR IR 6F 14 5T B R i i
estimated assessable profits for the year at the rates of M AR B R EEEFA B RIRITE
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group REHE o
operates.
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11.

—E A A= —HIFFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 11. FiE8iE% )
Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting loss RERANERRHNIER Y L estEiEETY
at applicable tax rates: BE -
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Loss before income tax HBR TS TR E 18 (13,815) (7,124)
Tax on loss before income tax, ERBBRIE R AR EERNEF
calculated at the rates applicable BB MR E 2 BRAEH
to profits or losses in the tax AIEE 2 B8
jurisdiction concerned (2,745) (1,746)
Tax effect of non-deductible PAEFA S « RIBF 2
expenses 1,565 2,161
Tax effect of non-taxable revenue BAERTRAZ BHIEFE (34) (44)
Tax effect of temporary differences REREGRFERE HIATLE
not recognised 7 5
Tax effect of tax losses not RERTIEBB  MIATE
recognised 1,352 521
Utilisation of tax losses previously A LRI R ERTIARE R
not recognised (112) (726)
Income tax expense FriS Bt 33 171
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12.

110

B BRRMEE

for the year ended 31 December 2023 &% —F — =

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

At 31 December 2023, the Group had unrecognised tax losses
of approximately HK$62,431,000 (2022: HK$64,395,000) to
carry forward against future taxable income. These tax losses
do not expire under current legislation except tax losses of
approximately HK$16,866,000 (2022: HK$20,287,000) will
be expired as follows:

11.

=F+_A=+—HILFE

FREHRA(#)

R-FE-_=F+=-—A=+—H A58H
RAERFRIBE1E#162,431,0008 L (— =2 =
Z4F : 64,395,000/ T )& - F{EEER
RIEFRFUA o W EBTAEIBRIBEIREE
B AgEm - HHIEEE16,866,000
BL(=ZZT = —4 : 20,287,000/ 7T) 51
T EAfE Em ¢

2023 2022
—E_-= =S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT
Year of expiry: [EmEE

2023 :%:Ei - 4,152
2024 —E-NF 3,656 8,012
2025 —TE-REF 3,176 3,239
2026 _7_/@ 4,112 1,190
2027 —TEF 2,180 3,694
2028 —ENF 3,742 =
16,866 20,287

LOSS PER SHARE 12. SRE#E

The calculation of basic loss per share is based on the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$12,405,000
(2022: HK$6,915,000) and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of1,947,690,000 (2022: 1,947,690,000)
in issue during the year.

Diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2022 were the same as basic loss per share as
there is no dilutive potential ordinary share in existence
during the year.
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13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND

=Fr-—A=+—HIFE

13. EEFMROBERSHFMAL

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’ ok d)
EMOLUMENTS
13.1 Directors’ emoluments 13.1 EEIH

Directors’ emoluments, disclosed pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules, section 383(1) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EEHMIOBIBEGEM LR A -
BBRBMEFIZE383(1) &R A B (#
BEZNRER)ROIE 250 H 5 a0
-

Other emoluments

Hittif &
Contributions
Salaries to defined
Directors’ and contribution
fees allowances plan Total
)E§E1/\TA
EENE FHeRkEH T Bt Mz
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
F# T FET FHET THER
2023 —E-=F
Executive directors: H{TE%
Mr. Chong Yu Ping HEYEE
(note 1) (Mt5ET) 529 71 4 604
Ms. Li Xia (note 2) Bxt (MEk2) 529 71 4 604
Mr. Chen Yin BREE ST A4 412 43 2 457
Independent BIFHITES !
non-executive
directors:
Ms. Na Xin BlAT 2+ 120 - - 120
Ms. Zhao Xiaxia HEELLT 120 - = 120
Mr. Poon Hon Yin BEERAE (HFE3)
(note 3) 95 - - 95
Mr. Lam Tin Faat MRESAE (H5E4)
(note 4) 75 - - 75
1,880 185 10 2,075
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13. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS AND
FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

13.1 Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

k30 16

13.1 EEFHME)

Other emoluments

13. EEFMROERSHFMAL

Hibi<

Contributions

to defined

Directors’ Salaries and contribution
fees allowances plan Total

TE FE AR
ExMe FHe R FT &It ok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHT 8T TAT

2022 -

Executive directors: HI{TEE :

Mr. Chong Yu Ping HEFLE - 350 16 366
Ms. Li Xia (note 2) B+ (HiF2) - 724 125 849
Mr. Chen Yin PBRE ST 4 - 239 11 250
Independent BIFHTESE:

non-executive
directors:
Mr. Lam Tin Faat MREE LA

(note 4) (Btsx4) 180 - - 180
Ms. Na Xin BlAT 22+ 120 - = 120
Ms. Zhao Xiaxia HEEL T 120 - - 120

420 1,313 152 1,885

Note: MisE -

1. Mr. Chong Yu Ping was appointed as the 1. HEFLER S _=F+=
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 1 A—BEZEARARRRITHE
December 2023 and his emoluments disclosed H o EXBERZHFWNEE
above include the services rendered by him as HEERTTEBRE IR B R -
Chief Executive Officer.

2. Ms. Li Xia was also the Chief Executive Officer 2. TELZTNAARRITERE
of the Company until 1 December 2023 and her H BEEZZT-_=F+=RA—
emoluments disclosed above include the services H  EXF#EER2HHEE
rendered by her as Chief Executive Officer. HEERITHRHRHAR -

3. Mr. Poon Hon Yin was appointed on 20 June 3. BEERER T -_=FA
2023 and his director’s fee was payable on a pro- “+HEZME EEZEHEE
rata basis. BB -

4. Mr. Lam Tin Faat resigned on 20 June 2023. 4. MRELEEER S _=F
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13. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND

=Fr-—A=+—HIFE

FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS’

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

13.1

13.2

Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Group or as compensation for loss of office during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

There were no arrangements under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments

The five individuals whose emoluments were the
highest in the Group for the year included three
(2022: three) directors whose emoluments are
reflected in the analysis presented above. The
aggregate emoluments of the remaining two (2022:
two) individuals during the year are as follows:

13. EEFMROBERSHFMAL

ZEH M @)

13.1 EEHM(E)
BE_ZT_=ZFR-_T-__F+—
A=+—HBILFE  AEBELER
EMEEZNHFHEEMARNEE
SN AR E B 1% 2 22 Sk 1E A B B
1#E o

13.2

A= “1' EIJJ:ET Ifﬁ%%ﬂl%
KRB MBI AFM 2L -

TEBEHMA L ZFHMH

FR - AEERAEESHFHALE
B=H(ZE—F: ZR)EF -
HEFMEE Lo < - Em
BIME(ZEZ_F : MA)&
HIMA T2 HI@ENT -

2023 2022
—ZE_-= T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Salaries and allowances iﬁé&?—ﬁﬁ 1,332 1,330
Contributions to defined A IRET B30
contribution plan 36 36
1,368 1,366
The emoluments fell within the following band: NS E

Number of individuals

BT AE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Emolument band: HENEE -
Nil to HK$1,000,000 £ 21,000,000 7T 2 2
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

14. Y% - BMERRE

EQUIPMENT
Computer
Leasehold  and office Furniture Motor
improvements  equipment and fixtures  vehicles Total
B
HEMEEE WOZRE HAREE HE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THErT TExT  TERL
At 1 January 2022 R-Z--%-A-H
Cost AR 1,650 9,369 416 4213 15648
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (1,586) (9,242) (399) (3,098  (14,325)
Net book amount REREE 64 127 17 1,115 1,323
Year ended 31 December BE-Z--£+-A=t-H
2022 LEE
Opening net book amount FUEEFE 64 127 17 1,115 1,323
Exchange differences BN ER (4) (6) (1) (5) (16)
Additions hE 569 196 - - 765
Written off Wi (39) (16) (16) - (71)
Depreciation e (49) (53) - (776) (878)
Closing net book amount ERREFE 541 248 = 334 1,123
At 31 December 2022 and RZBZZH+ZA=+-HK
1 January 2023 “E-=%-f—-H
Cost N 1,923 9,043 215 4173 15354
Accumulated depreciation 2EE (1,382) (8,795) (215)  (3,839)  (14,231)
Net book amount REFEE 541 248 = 334 1,123
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 14. V¥ - BERRE#®)
EQUIPMENT (continued)
Computer
Leasehold and office ~ Furniture ~ Motor
improvements equipment and fixtures vehicles Total
ER

BENREE BOERHE HKARKE "= Lt
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TART TART TR TiEn  TiEx

Year ended 31 December BZE-_Z-_=%4+-A=+-H

2023 tEE

Opening net book amount FOEMFE 541 248 = 334 1,123
Exchange differences PN ERE (14) (17) - (1) (32)
Additions NE 239 1,681 - - 1,920
Written off ik - (154) - - (154)
Depreciation nE (262) (255) - (303) (820)
Closing net book amount FREMFE 504 1,503 - 30 2,037
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBZ=Zf+=ZA=+-H

Cost AR 2,104 10,587 209 4159 17,059
Accumulated depreciation ZETE (1,600) (9,084) (209)  (4,129) (15,022)
Net book amount REFE 504 1,503 - 30 2,037
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15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

15. EREEE

Land and
buildings
T REF
HK$°000
FHBT
At 1 January 2022 R=-EB=-=—f%-—H—H
Cost B R 1,642
Accumulated depreciation RitinE (806)
Net book amount REFE 836
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-E-—F+-A=+—HLHFE
Opening net book amount FYIREFE 836
Addition NE 2,340
Early termination of leases RERZRIEEE (207)
Exchange differences e H Z5E (107)
Depreciation e (578)
Lease modification HEMR (35)
Net book amount REFE 2,249
At 31 December 2022 and R-ZE-_ZF+ZA=+—-HK
1 January 2023 —E-=5—A—H
Cost AR 2,940
Accumulated depreciation R E (691)
Net book amount BREFE 2,249
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-ZE-_=F+-A=1+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FYIRESE 2,249
Exchange difference b H =5 (54)
Depreciation e (930)
Lease modification HENR 564
Net book amount REFE 1,829
At 31 December 2023 R-B-_=%+=-H=+—H
Cost AR 2,772
Accumulated depreciation ZEIE (943)
Net book amount REFE 1,829
The details in relation to these leases are set out in note 26. BRAZERE ZF BN E26 °
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16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December
2023 and 2022 are as follows:

16. RHB AR Z2#=
RoB-=FF-_FT-—F+-A=+—

B TEZMBARIZFBOT :

Place/ Particulars of issued Percentage of ownership
Country of Place of and paid up capital/ interest held by the
Name of company incorporation  operation registered capital Company  Principal activities
AR BRARARRA/ KRRfEAAR
ARER 1%/BX XY &R BRvAMM TEER
Excel Consulting and Solutions Malaysia Malaysia 100,000 shares of 100%  Development of computer
Sdn. Bhd * Malaysian Ringgit (2022: 100%) software and provision of
("MYR") sale and marketing services
1 each
BRED SREZ 100,000k ERAE RESREN RRHEE RS
EREDS EERH
(T5%]) 12k
21 Limited* Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$13,001,000 100%  Application services provider
(2022: 100%)
(30 B 13,001,000 7 ERRH R HES
HR21 Limited* Hong Kong Hong Kong HKS$2 100%  Development of computer
(2022: 100%) software and provision of
maintenance services
B (3 Vi REERAMRIEHFERY
HERRFER L PRC PRC HK$127,000,000 100%  Design and sales of gold and
(Yu Tak Holdings (Shenzhen) Co., Limited@)** (2022: 100%) jewellery products
B e 127,000,000%7 it hEEEERAEER
AT EREG ERZABRAA PRC PRC Renminbi (“RMB”) 100%  Development of computer
(Excel Solution Technology Limited@)** 6,000,000 (2022: 100%) software and provision of
maintenance services
hE e ARE (TAR®]) REBRAM RIEHFERE
6,000,007
FEELFIERAA PRC PRC HK$20,000,000 100%  Development of computer
(Excel Software (Shenzhen) Co., Limited@)** (2022: 100%) software and provision of
maintenance services
mE el 20,000,000 7 RESHANRRRRERS
FIEARERNERAT Taiwan Taiwan New Taiwan Dollar 100%  Provision of professional
(New River Information Technology & Services ("NT$") (2022: 100%) services
Co., Limited@)* 11,913,620
RE RE =t REZZRE
([#a%])
11,913,620
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16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 16. RB AR ZE= @)
(Continued)
Place/ Particulars of issued Percentage of ownership
Country of Place of and paid up capital/ interest held by the
Name of company incorporation  operation registered capital Company  Principal activities
BN BRARARRA/ KRARRRER
ARER 1%/ BX EX% HfERFE BRCAAM  FEEE

ZERERSRRRE R OERAR Dongguan  PRC PRC RMB10,000,000
Excel International Finance and Technology
Incubation Centre Company Limited@)**

100%  Development of computer
(2022: 100%) software and provision of
maintenance services

HE e AK10,000,0007 RESHAKRRRRERS
MIEHEARAT PRC PRC RMB10,000,000 100%  Wholesaling and retailing of
(Shenzhen Yu Tak Jewellery Co., Ltd. @)* (2022: 100%) gold, platinum, diamond,
Karat gold, jade and jewellery
products
e i AR10,000,0007T EERE Rk (el €A
REERHHERSE
HERRRERINERAT ( 8RR ) PRC PRC RMBS00,000 90%  Investment holding
(Yu Tak Health Technology (Shenzhen) (2022: 90%)
Company Limited@)* ("Yu Tak Health”)
e e AK900,0007T RERR
HESRRENERNERAR ( [E2R])  PRC PRC RMBS,000,000 63%  Design, production and sales of
Yu Tak Hukang Health Technology (Shenzhen) (2022: 63%) smart rehabilitation products
Company Limited@)* ("Yu Tak Huikang") ‘
lci e ARE5,000,0007T Fit - EEREEEHREER
HERRYTREREERLT (W) Hong Kong Hong Kong HK$100 100%  Investment holding
(Yu Tak International Digital Healthcare (2022: NJA)
Investment Ltd.) * (Note (a))
BE Bk 1007 EER
* Limited liability company * BRAR
23 Wholly foreign-owned enterprise . SEBERX
@ The English names of the PRC or Taiwan companies @ Tg‘é*}%’&ﬁjﬁ@ﬁj%ﬁ)‘j%ﬁ:%%
are translation of their Chinese names for identification Ea - EHBE - MIFREASBHR
purpose only and are not their official names
Notes: Pt -
(a) Incorporated during the year ended 31 December 2023. (a) REE-FT-_=F+-A=+—HALF
EFfRKAL -
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company ERINRZAAFTMBAR - HEERS
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected HASEFANEEEXTEFENERESE
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion BEFEECEZHM - EFRAYHEM
of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other WE AT BRI EEEERITE °

subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.
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16. INTERESTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Material non-controlling interests

At 31 December 2023, the Group includes two subsidiaries
with material non-controlling interests (“NCI”), the details
and the summarised financial information, before intragroup
eliminations, are as follows:

16.

=F+_A=1+—HItFE

R B AT 2 Rt ()

EXRFERER

R-ZB-_=ZF+_-_A=1+—8 A%H
BIEMEES B A E R (IR RE
@) ZHBAR - AEFRERMBER

ZORETEHE

A RRIEE )BT

Yu Tak Yu Tak
Health Huikang
HERE HESE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET F#& T
Proportion of ownership interests eI Fﬁhﬁﬁﬁ%* Eos
and voting rights held by NCI RAEZBD 10% 37%
Current assets MENEE 113 4,374
Non-current assets FRBEE 5,500 3,420
Current liabilities mBBIE (4,519) (2,765)
Non-current liabilities FRBBE - (780)
Net assets EEFE 1,094 4,249
Carrying amount of NCI iR e e 2 ARTE B 110 1,572
Revenue WA - 4,871
Loss for the year FNEE (1) (3,899)
Total comprehensive expense FREMAXETE
for the year (1) (3,899)
Loss attributable to NCI FEIEAR e s BB B 1R - (1,443)
Total comprehensive expense IR e PR 2 R S AR
attributable to NCI = (1,506)
Net cash flows used in operating KEEHA RS NEFRE
activities (5677) (1,581)
Net cash flows used in investing KREEHHHA A REFE
activities = (1,637)
Net cash flows generated from BMEEPEACHESREFHE
financing activities — 1,105

TR HEERERERAR
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=F+_A=+—HILFE

17. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS HiemEE

2023 2022
—EB=F B F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T T

Financial assets at FVOCI BAARBEFAHMEEREN

(non-recycling) cHRMEE (FTUEH)

Unlisted private equity fund FELEMRAAREES 565 391
Unlisted equity investments (note (a)) 3 EMRAIRE (MiE(a)) 20,288 24,487
20,853 24,878

Notes: Bt 5
(a) As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the amount (@) RZEZ=FR-ZZT-__F+=ZA=+
represented the fair value of 10% interests in an unlisted —H > ZeBEERN—RIELTLATR
private entity established in the PRC, which is principally W10%ERNAREE » ZEENTE
engaged in property development, property leasing and Al - TEREMERME  MEEER
property management. MEEE
(b) The fair values of unlisted private equity fund and (b) FEMRABRRES RIFLETERAKRE
unlisted equity investments have been measured as KA EED M EES5.6ATMlETE -
described in note 35.6.
il
18. INVENTORIES 18. BE
2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#ET FAIT
Raw materials R 215 =
Work in progress 8 592 =
Finished goods BURN TR 43,706 43,937
44,513 43,937
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND 19.
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

19.1 Contract assets

BREERENERE

19.1 GHEE

2023 2022
—E_=F —=E-—

HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET

Contract assets arising from RBEHNEEZENEE
service contracts 153 2,242
Less: ECL allowance B TREEEEIERE (6) (14)
147 2,228

The decrease in contract assets in both years is
mainly due to the decrease in scale of ongoing
service contracts at the end of the years.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the balance of
contract assets is expected to be recovered within

one year.

The movement in the ECL allowance of contract

MEFENEHNEERD I EEH
RERNFBERBALRERD -

RZBEZ=FR=-_F-__F+=A
=t—H AHNEELALTEHRBER

—FRYkE -

BHEERNGEERRREZE

assets is as follows: /N

2023 2022
—E_=F —EF-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHET
Balance at 1 January R—A—B2#H% 14 46
Reversal of ECL allowance FRNERZBHEE

recognised during the year EiE R R E (8) (32)
Balance at 31 December R+ A=+—Rz&#% 6 14
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19. CONTRACT ASSETS AND

122

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (continued)

19.

EHNEERENERE®)

When the Group receives a deposit before the sales
activity commences or services perform, this will
give rise to contract liabilities.

The increase in contract liabilities is mainly due
to increase in advance payments received from
customers for sales of goods during the year ended
31 December 2023.

Contract liabilities outstanding at the beginning
of the year amounting to HK$6,776,000 (2022:
HK$9,446,000) have been recognised as revenue
during the year.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the balance of
contract liabilities is expected to be settled within
one year.

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023

19.2 Contract liabilities BREE
2023 2022
—E-=F -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Contract liabilities arising from AW BRI RIGE HEE
service contracts from billings in ZEHEE
advance of performance 6,995 6,745
Contract liabilities arising from HEEMERKEELEZAY
receipts in advance of sales of =L
goods 1,416 31
8,411 6,776

EARERHEE BRI NREE
TRWRES  RIEELEANEA

AHBEENDEEENEE-Z
—ZHE+-AZ=t—HLFERB
EPWEMEE S RIEBGIE L
FrEK °

RENHAREEANHNE G
6,776,000 % T( =& = = F:
9,446,000 L) E RN F AR AU
AO

R-E_=Fr_T__F+-A
=+—H  AHaEEBRTERR—
FREEE o
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. EWE B RN

2023 2022

—E-=F — g
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHET
Trade receivables R E SRR 3,299 1,687
Less: ECL allowance B TREEE R Ia RS (238) (162)
3,061 1,525

The directors of the Group considered that the fair values
of trade receivables are not materially different from their
carrying amounts because these balances have short
maturity periods on their inception.

Trade receivables for IT Products and Services are due
within 0 to 60 days (2022: 0 to 60 days) from the date of
billing. Debtors with balances that are more than 90 days
overdue are requested to settle all outstanding balances
before any further credit is granted.

The Group's sales of gold and jewellery products comprised
mainly credit sales to customers which are due within 0
to 90 days (2022: 0 to 90 days) from the date of billing.

The Group's sales of rehabilitation products comprised
mainly credit sales to customers which are due within 0
to 90 days (2022: 0 to 90 days) from the date of billing.

Based on the invoice dates (or date of revenue recognition
if earlier), the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, net

AEBEERARWE SRR S ERR

R BMREEHBZANBERAKREEY
BERER o

EAMEHLE M R RS Z BINE 5 8RR 8
BHBFZEEASNTH(ZEZZF : EERX
+H)RNEE - e BBANTHZE
BAEEBERIREELRE T HER
E—HEER -

AEB B RREEMEEETEBRER
EFEHZEEHE  EEMBERERR
HEEATB(ZE==F: TFEA+H)
MEH -

AEBEZREERHETRZEREATPIE
HZEEHE  FEMEREREFTE
NTBE(ZZ2ZZF: ZEATR)REIH -

RIFHZ A MU AR B B(HE
B)) RURBESER(CHREREEERE

of ECL allowance, was as follows: B 2 BRE ST ¢

2023 2022
—E-=F — g

HK$'000 HK$'000
FiET TFHETT
0 - 30 days 0—30H 992 1,264
31 - 60 days 31—60H 1,495 35
61 — 90 days 61—90H 41 -
Over 90 days im0 H 533 226
3,061 1,525
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 20. EWREZRF (&)
The movement in the ECL allowance of trade receivables EWE ZEREREEEERE &I
is as follows: T
2023 2022
—EB-=F T F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
Balance at 1 January R—A—Bz##% 162 290
ECL allowance/(Reversal of ECL FRERZBHREEEIERE
allowance) recognised during the (FBEAfEEEERHERE)
year 76 (128)
Balance at 31 December R+-—A=+—Bz#&% 238 162
21. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 21. HERRIE - RERFEBENARK
AND PREPAYMENTS 1
2023 2022
—EB-=F T _F
HK$'000 HK$'000
T T
Other receivables H A U GRIB 20,142 18,642
Deposits & 450 293
Prepayments TERTRIE 581 1,658
Value-added tax recoverable A Uy [B] A T 302 310
Amounts due from non-controlling FEUR — IR A R SEIE AR IR R BUIAR
shareholders of a subsidiary - 2,798
21,475 23,601

124

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e B HRR M

for the year ended 31 December 2023 2 —E - =F+—-A=+—HIFFZ

21.

22.

OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

Notes:

(i) The movement in the ECL allowance of other receivables

21.

HBWRE - RERAMNR
15 (4)
Fif s -

0] H b W RIR ik e 2 REME B AR

and deposits are as follows: Bz =BT -
2023 2022
—EB-=F —E-F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Balance at 1 January R—A—Bz#&t 182 20

ECL allowance recognised during the FRERZTEREEBIERE

year 296 162
Balance at 31 December R+=—A=+—RAZ#&#% 478 182

The directors of the Group considered that the fair values
of other receivables, deposits and prepayments are not
materially different from their carrying amounts because
these balances have short maturity periods on their
inception.

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Included in cash and bank balances of the Group is
HK$1,741,000 (2022: HK$4,555,000) of bank balances
denominated in RMB placed with banks in the PRC. RMB
is not a freely convertible currency. Under the PRC's
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement and Sales and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
foreign currencies through banks that are authorised to
conduct foreign exchange business.

22.

AEBEZRREMBUKE  ZHE KB
NHRBEREHER  BREEHBIANE
ERAREETEEAER -

BERBRITER

REB 2B e RIBITFHREE,741,000%
TT(=F = —4F : 4,555,000 7T ) F A H
BIENIRITIAA R BEZRITER © A
RE AT EHRLRER - BEFFRE 25
FE 5 BB IR0 R A TE - EIE K B IS
RE - AEBE A EFESEBEREITINE
HIPEE 2 BITHEARE SIRAINE o
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23.

24.

126

TRADE PAYABLES 23.

The Group was granted by its suppliers credit periods
ranging from 0 to 90 days (2022: 0 to 90 days). Based on
the invoice dates, the ageing analysis of the trade payables
were as follows:

A E SRR

HERBKTAEB ZEEHNTEZ N+
H(ZZE-—F TN +H) BEHRE
BE - ENE SRR ZEHEIITOT

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET T

0 - 30 days 0—30H 89 8
31- 60 days 31—60H 1,356 -
61 — 90 days 61—90H - 93
Over 90 days @90 H 3 393
1,448 494

All amounts are short term and hence the carrying amounts
of trade payables are considered to be a reasonable
approximation of fair value.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 24.

FMETHRBERLEE  MENBIRRZ
REEREARABEZAENH -

HttEAREARERER

CHARGES

2023 2022
—E-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAIT
Other payables (note (i) HAuERIE () 4,923 3,302
Accrued charges TEIRE R 2,150 1,942
7,073 5,244

Note: BiaE -

(i) Included in other payables as at 31 December 2023 were
staff bonus payable of HK$134,000 (2022: HK$160,000)
and deposits received from franchisees of HK$1,870,000
(2022: HK$2,058,000).

All amounts are short term and hence the carrying amounts
of other payables and accrued charges are considered to
be a reasonable approximation of fair value.
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(i) RZBZ=F+-A=t+—AZHME
NFHBEEIE134,0008 T (- —4F :
160,000 7T ) 2 FET B TIEAL I B FFaT
HneE Uk E 2 #%41,870,000/8 (=
— —4F : 2,058,000/ 7T) °
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25.

26.

ANMOUNT DUE TO A DIRECTOR

The amount due to a director is unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group's lease liabilities:

26.

=F+_A=1+—HItFE

BN —BESRHE

B —REEFELAEER  £EWER
ZRIEE -
HEAE

TRETASEHERBENAOR TS
HiR

2023 2022
—E_= —E-F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Total minimum lease payments: =R HE
— Due within one year ——Eﬁwj,ﬁﬂ 1,117 837
- Due in the second to fifth years —RE-_EZFERAFRNEH 1,118 1,764
2,235 2,601
Future finance charges on lease HMEBBZRRY B L
liabilities (110) (181)
Present value of lease liabilities HEaBZRE 2,125 2,420
Present value of minimum lease REHAESMNZRZEE :
payments:
— Due within one year ——F A H 1,037 735
- Due in the second to fifth years —RE_EZFRFRNIH 1,088 1,685
2,125 2,420
Less: Portion due within one year B BEFARBAER
included under current liabilities —F N B HE D (1,037) (735)
Portion due after one year included BEFASERBAER
under non-current liabilities —E & B HRER D 1,088 1,685

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has obtained the right
to use land and buildings through four (2022: five) tenancy
agreements. The leases typically run on an initial period of
three (2022: three) years.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the total cash
outflows for the leases are HK$910,000 (2022: HK$774,000).

R_TE-_=ZF+-_A=+—8 - $§%IE
FRMN(ZE-_—F: A)HHEERSE

FRTHREFTZERN - HEE— ﬁx%ﬂfjﬁ
BH=(Z—_—F : =)F -
HE_Z-_ZF+_-_A=+—HILEE -

HEME SR #% 59100008 T(=F
% 774,000/7T) °
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27. SHARE CAPITAL 27. BAR
2023 2022
—E-=F T F
Number of Number of
shares HK$'000 shares HK$'000
R AE F#& T % 15 £k B T
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of FRREE. 1B T2 E ik
HK$0.1 each
At 1 January and 31 R—HA—BK
December +—-—HA=+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERITRERE :
At 1 January and 31 R—A—AK
December +=ZA=+—8 1,947,690,000 194,769 1,947,690,000 194,769
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28. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 28. AR TR RE
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
2023 2022
—=E== —F--
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
M5 FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERAE
Non-current asset kRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries A NI EVNGIPA: £ —* =
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments AR RIE 249 228
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTIFER 12 9
261 237
Current liabilities =R
Other payables and accrued HEMENZIERTERER
charges 1,638 1,485
Amount due to a subsidiary R — R A R FIE 5,205 5,205
Amount due to a director B —REEFHE 26,468 20,049
33,311 26,739
Net current liabilities REBAEFE (33,050) (26,502)
Total assets less current BEAERRBAE
liabilities (33,050) (26,502)
Net liabilities FEE (33,050) (26,502)
EQUITY E
Share capital f& s 194,769 194,769
Reserves G 29(a) (227,819) (221,271)
Capital deficiencies B A (33,050) (26,502)
& Less than HK$1,000 * D 1,000/8 7T
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors RZEBE_NMF=ZA -+ \BEEEeHE
on 28 March 2024. R RET)E o
Li Xia -] Chong Yu Ping HEE
Director - Director EF
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29. RESERVES 29. #fE
Note: PR -
(a) The movement of the Company’s reserves are as (a) RARZHEEENT ¢
follows:

Share Accumulated

premium losses Total
RBEE ZiTER #az
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FExT FET
(note 29(b))
(FffEE29(b))
At 1 January 2022 R-ZTE-_—_F—HA—H 218,532 (434,720) (216,188)
Loss for the year and total FABEBRFREZARRE
comprehensive expense for
the year = (5,083) (5,083)
At 31 December 2022 and RZTEZZF+=ZA=+—H
1 January 2023 r=ZZT-—=F—HF—H 218,532 (439,803) (221,271)
Loss for the year and total FABERFRAZERZRE
comprehensive expense for
the year - (6,548) (6,548)
At 31 December 2023 R-ZB-_=%+=-H=+-—H 218,532 (446,351) (227,819)
(b) Share premium (b) &= E
The share premium represents the difference between B BEERNABRMDHOEREEERERA
the par value of the shares of the Company and net BIBITRD TS IBFRECHMEEE -
proceeds received from the issuance of the shares of
the Company.
The application of the share premium account is BB ERZERAXBARERNAEEL0
governed by section 40 of the Bermuda Companies Act. REEE
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30. LEASE COMMITMENTS

31.

At the reporting date, the lease commitments for short-term
leases are as follows:

30. HEERIE

MERAE - BHHEHENHEEAEWT :

2023 2022
—ZF=-= —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Within one year —F RN 95 388
CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31. EREKIE
2023 2022
—B-=F —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHAT
Contracted but not provided for ERTAEREE
— Property, plant and equipment —ME - BERE - 396
— Capital injection in an investment —M—IEKEEBEFE
(note) G 2,550 -
2,550 396
Note: PitsE

On 3 November 2023, the Group entered a framework agreement
with Shengben Holdings (Hainan) Group Company Limited, an
independent third party, which will form an equity joint venture
(the “Joint Venture”) for share capital of HK$5,000,000 where the
group will hold 51% of the beneficial interest in the Joint Venture
by contributing share capital of HK$2,550,000.

R-ZB-=F+—HA=H  AEBEBRER
(B EBEARARBILE=FH)FIIERKG
o BRUEAK L —RIAR A &5,000,0008 T2 &
BOE(AREDE]D  HP  AEEBEBE
& 2,550,000 TTHIRAIFR G EBHE1% ER
MR o
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32.

33.

132

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Except as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no other material transactions
with related parties.

Key management personnel remuneration

Key management of the Group are members of the board
of directors. Key management personnel remuneration
includes the following expenses:

32.

BB X5

B M B mREMEBMATREEI - A
SEMEERE T ETEBEARS -

FTEEEAEME

AEENEIEZEEERESENE - 8
EEAEMEBETIIRX

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-—fF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Short term employee benefits EHEBE®RA 2,065 1,733
Post-employment benefits B 2R 10 152
2,075 1,885
SIGNIFICANT NON-CASH 33. ERFRERS

TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
entered into certain lease contracts in which addition
to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities amounting to
HK$2,340,000 was recognised at the lease commencement
date. No such transaction incurred during the year 31
December 2023.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, certain expenses

of the Group of HK$1,928,000 (2022: HK$1,447,000) are
paid by a director of the Company on behalf of the Group.
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34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 34. MEERDELEZEEHK
ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES
The changes in the Group's liabilities arising from financing AEERRETBELECABEEHATHE
activities can be classified as follows: O
Lease Amount due
liabilities to a director
B —%
HEaRE EEHE
HK$000 HK$'000
T T
At 1 January 2022 R-E2E-_—_F—H—H 888 1,800
Cash-flows: RERE -
Advance from a director —HREEIR - 1,615
Repayment to a director m—RESREENIE - (16)
Capital element of lease rentals paid EHNEAEHEEARL MK (437) -
Interest element of lease rentals paid S HHEHEF B % (45) -
Non-cash: FBE
Interest expenses (note 10) FERAZ (MFE10) 45 =
Entering into new lease RINEEE 2,340
Early termination of leases IREPRIEHE (223) -
Lease modification HENER (35) =
Exchange differences EH Z5E (113) 933
Expense paid on behalf of the RARAZ AR
Company - 1,447
At 31 December 2022 R-B--_5+=-A=+—H 2,420 5,779
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34. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES

134

2-F

ARISING FROM FINANCING

ACTIVITIES (continued)

34.

=F+A=+—HIFE

METDELE 2AGEHER®

Lease n Amount due
liabilities  to a director
E—%
HEERE EENE
HK$000 HK$°000
FET FHBT
At 1 January 2023 R-B-_=%—HF—H 2,420 5,779
Cash-flows: BHERE -
Advance from a director —REEEHR - 4,552
Repayment to a director M—RBEEEERER - (61)
Capital element of lease rentals paid BENHEEHEEARE 35 (797) =
Interest element of lease rentals paid 2SS F S EBM7 (113) =
Non-cash: ¥*HBE
Interest expenses (note 10) FMERSZ (KFE10) 113 -
Lease modification HENR 564 -
Exchange differences TE =R (62) 350
Expense paid on behalf of the RAERRZHIF X
Company - 1,928
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F+=-H=+—H 2,125 12,548
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35.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations
and in its investment activities. The financial risks include
market risk (including foreign currency risk and interest rate
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its financial risk and takes actions to mitigate such risk.
The Group adopts conservative strategies on its risk
management and seeks to limit the Group’s exposure to
these risks to a minimum. The board of directors reviews
and agrees policies for managing each of these risks.

There has been no change to the type of the Group's
exposure in respect of financial instruments or the manner
in which it manages and measures the risks.

35.

e

MBRBREERAAEBESR

AEERREARRGBES RNERE
AERERER T AMAEN KRR - &
BRERSEM SRR (23RNSR R R R
) - EERRMREBIERR

AEBEGRBERRTMEEEMHR
b2 - WERERTTENRIRGEHARAR - NR&EEHE
e\ B I 7 T BRER B A AR ST RS - BT
BAEEAZ Z HERBBRERE - EF
N kRAEEESBERRARIHBR

AEEMPREMIARRZBRAREE
BERFERRARZ A EEE)
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. IKRAREERAAEBENE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (48)
(Continued)
35.1 Categories of financial assets and 351 RIEEREEZER
liabilities

The carrying amounts presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position relate to the following

categories of financial assets and financial liabilities:

REBBIRRARMEIN 2 REEY
FATHRz e REELSRAE:

2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE&T T
Financial assets TREE
Financial assets at amortised cost IZE KA EN S REEE
— Trade receivables —REKRE SRR 3,061 1,525
— Other receivables and —H b R GRIE R IES
deposits 20,592 21,733
- Cash and bank balances —Be MIBITER 21,031 23,438
Financial assets at FVOCI (non- BRARBEFARMBEZERES
recycling) WemEE (TrEE)
— Unlisted private equity fund —JEEMRABREES 565 391
— Unlisted equity investments —3EETRAEE 20,288 24,487
65,537 71,574
Financial liabilities SRAE
Financial liabilities measured at RN AGTENSRAE
amortised cost
— Trade payables —ENEZERN 1,448 494
— Other payables and accrued —HthE R ERRE R
charges 7,073 5,244
— Amount due to a director —EN—REEHE 12,548 5,779
— Lease liabilities —HEBE 2,125 2,420
23,194 13,937
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

35.2

35.3

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair
value or future cash flows of a financial instrument
will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange
rates. The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk
arise primarily from its financial assets and liabilities
denominated in United States Dollars (“US$") and
RMB. These are not the functional currencies of the
group entities to which these transactions relate.
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, as the financial
assets and liabilities denominated in US$ and RMB
are insignificant, the exposure to foreign currency
risk is considered minimal.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value
or cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in the market interest rates. The
Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from bank
balances and lease liabilities.

The exposure to interest rates for the Group's
bank balances and lease liabilities is considered
immaterial.

MBRBREERAAEBESR

(%)

35.2

35.3

e

S L B

SN B[ ¥ IR B R S B i B B 2
TAZAABEKERKRRERE
HIERE 2 A o AEBFASZZI
EEBREEREENUET(ET])
MARBFEZEHEERAGE -
WEEEWIEPRLEERH2EE
BEREEYE - RZTEZ=FK
—T-—F+-A=+—H8  #ER
NETRARBHEZCBREER
BEYTREKXN  #AT ZINERR
WAR BARIR o

R E R

MERBESRIAEZAABESL
REmERTIZN REE M H R
BoRR - AREHONXEARER
KERITEFARBEERAE -

AEBRTFARBEERBHRAR
ZHIEERIY TEX e
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

138

(Continued)

35.4 Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty
to a financial instrument would fail to discharge its
obligation under the terms of the financial instrument
and cause a financial loss to the Group. The Group's
exposure to credit risk mainly arises from granting
credit to customers in the ordinary course of its
operations and from its investing activities.

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for
the components of the consolidated statement of
financial position at 31 December 2023 and 2022
is the carrying amount as disclosed in note 35.1.

(i)

Trade receivables and contract assets

Management has a credit policy in place for
approving the credit limits and the exposures
to credit risk are monitored such that any
outstanding debtors are reviewed and followed
up on an ongoing basis. The Group’s policy is
to deal only with creditworthy counterparties.
Payment record of customers is closely
monitored. Customers with balances that are
more than 90 days overdue are required to
settled all outstanding balances before any
further credit is granted. Normally, the Group
does not obtain collateral from customers.

Trade receivables and contract assets are
written off (i.e. derecognised) when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery.

The Group has certain concentration of credit
risk in respect of trade receivables as 44%
(2022: 37%) of the total trade receivables
was due from a customer.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(Continued)

35.4 Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade receivables and contract assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables and contract assets that
are individually considered to be significant
have been separately assessed for ECL. The
Group makes periodic assessments on the
recoverability of the receivables based on
background and reputation of the customers,
historical settlements and past experience.
During the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2022, no contract asset was individually
written off in full.

The Group has applied the simplified approach
to assess the ECL as prescribed by HKFRS
9. In calculating the ECL rates, the Group
considers historical elements and forward-
looking elements.

To measure the ECL, trade receivables and
contract assets have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and the
past due days. In calculating the ECL rates,
the Group considers historical elements and
forward-looking elements.

MBRBREERAAEBESR

(i)

e

35.4 =ERRE)

EREZIRAREKEE
(&)

BERHEEAERNEWE S
ERREHNEEDEBED
FEHEEEETG - A58
BEZEFHESRES .
BELERBTEREEK
FRIGHY A U O] M E B TR
o REBEZT_=FK=
T__F+-_A=+—Hit
FE  BMEAHNEEDER
&R F LAY -

REBEFEVHREEF
SREVRE - AREEA/KE
TENFHEFRRERER -
Rt ERBEEBEBRE -
AEBMEBELTTERENMATNE
MR -

RETERBEERR - B
BHERRLENEECDRIE
AREERRFHERAHX
g - R ERBEEE
BRE - AREZRESLTT
ERATEMTER -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

140

(Continued)

35.4 Credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Trade
(Continued)

receivables and contract assets

The ECL for trade receivables and contract
assets as at 31 December 2023 and 2022

were determined as follows:

35.

BEEEEERAAEETE

(%)

35.4 =ERRE)

(i) EREZIRAREKEE

(%)

-
N —= —

=FER=-FE=_=
+—A=+—8 " EKE5
BRRRAHNEENTEHREE

EEETENT
Jewellery Products [T Products and Services Rehabilitation Products
HEER EANBERRRH ERER
Gross  Lifetime Gross  Lifetime Gross  Lifetime
ECLrate  amount ECL ECL rate  amount ECL ECLrate  amount ECL
£ &5 &5
RlES BBEE  REGE RlEE  BEEE RlES
FRE  HE B FRE  8E BB ER:  8E BB
HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HKS'000
Tén T Tén T Tén  Tén
w3 82zf
Trade receivables EYEAER
Past due: 85
0-90 days 0908 0%-171% 1447 20 0%-57% 564 N 0%-447% 578 2
Over 90 days butwithin~—~ Q0B LBk
1 year 2.20% - - 7.44% - - 5.71% 565 32
Over 1 year o 0% 1 1 0 - - 0% -
1w o R
Contract assets AhEE
Past due: LR
090 days 0408 NATER - - 3% 1\ 6 NAFER _ - -
2022 CECCE
Trade receivables EHEAER
Past due: 25
0-90 days 0908 0%-3.44% - - 0%-220% 811 - 0%1.66% 50 8
Over 90 days but within -~~~ Q0B LE-F7k
1 year 344% - - 262% 21 5 1.66% - -
Over 1 year Bk 0% W9 149 0w - - e - -
1 s 8
Contract assets AhEE
Past due: B4
00 days 0908 NARER - - 6% QW M4 NARER - -
@ Less than HK$1,000 * 11,0008 7T
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(Continued)

35.4 Credit risk (Continued)

(if)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets measured at amortised
cost include other receivables and deposits
and cash and bank balances. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group would make periodic collective and
individual assessment on the recoverability
of other receivables and deposits based
on historical settlement records and past
experience and current external information
and adjusted to reflect probability-weighted
forward-looking information, including the
default rate where the relevant debtors
operates. Other monitoring procedures are
in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In these
regards, the credit risk of other receivables
and deposits are considered to be low.

The management is of opinion that there
is no significant increase in credit risk on
other receivables and deposits since initial
recognition as the risk of default is low after
considering the factors as set out in note 2.6.
The ECL rate applied for other receivables and
deposits ranged from 0% to 4.13% (2022:
0% to 4.11%).

The credit risk for bank balances is considered
to be insignificant because the counterparties
are reputable banks with high quality external
credit ratings.

MBRBREERAAEBESR

(ii)

]

35.4 =ERRE)

B NGt B A E M2
EE
BEERAENE MBS E
EEREEMEWRIE R
EARBRERIRITER ° &
BAIRERDEERR - A%
EEEERREBEEER
8 B BRI K& ATNEB
EMEEMEYGARIZS
BRI UG @1 E BT R
ERIFFE - XEHBEUR
BREE X IR ATIEIEE S
BREABEFSALLREL
HERE - FESHIEEME
R BRIFLRETD
DAY B J8 BRI TR » Bt M
5 RfERREREREZ
EFERRBRAERE -

KREBEME26FTEHEZ
% mREHRBREK B2
BRABVIZHERIAREA
JEUR FRIE KR B s B E R
WEKig EF - EAREM
W RIE RIZEMIBHREE
BEENT0%ZE4.13% (=
T F 0%E411%) °

R 5% 75 KA EE N
EEFRZ RIFEERTT -
BRITERZEERRER
RITERX -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. BiIXEKREERAAEBERE

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (&)

(Continued)

35.5 Liquidity risk 35.5 MENERE B
Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will ME RS R AR EREEEITE
not be able to meet its obligations associated with its BRXNEeHMEREESAEN
financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash TREEREET AR - A&E
or another financial asset. The Group is exposed MEEENESER - EMEMAR
to liquidity risk in respect of settlement of trade, BENEN—REEREMERES
other payables and amount due to a director and - URERESEREEEMAZR
its financing obligations, and also in respect of its BER o NEE BIEERER
cash flow management. The Group's objective is MBEEREZKTE - UREHRE
to maintain an appropriate level of liquid assets HRRHARBERT LK
to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and
longer term.
Analysed below is the Group's remaining contractual TR ABEAEER_E_=FK
maturities for its financial liabilities as at 31 December ZEZF+ZA=T—HzmA
2023 and 2022. When the creditor has a choice of BENE R T R EAR - BEREA
when the liability is settled, the liability is included AEREAFAELKRE - BEERR
on the basis of the earliest date on when the Group SEMERERERCHTE AT
can be required to pay. Where the settlement of ik - BRBESHGAE  ASHHM
the liability is in instalments, each instalment is ROREREBABERZ&TFH
allocated to the earliest period in which the Group f e
is committed to pay.
The contractual maturity analysis below is based UTEHHRIMIER AR
on the undiscounted cash flows of the financial ZARMBENBERE o
liabilities.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. IXEKREERAAEBETE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (&)
(Continued)
35.5 Liquidity risk (Continued) 35.5 MmENMERMR(E)
Within 1 Over 1 year Total
year or on but within undiscounted Carrying
demand 5 years amount amount
—FR —F Bk
RER BEEFR KREEREE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHETT FHETT THExT  TET
2023 —E2-=
Trade payables JERTE 5 AR 1,448 - 1,448 1,448
Other payables and H R RIE R
accrued charges TEIREH 7,073 = 7,073 7,073
Amount due a to B —REERIEA
director 12,548 - 12,548 12,548
Lease liabilities HEAaE 1,117 1,118 2,235 2,125
22,186 1,118 23,304 23,194
2022 —Eg-=
Trade payables e E SRR 494 = 494 494
Other payables and E A R RIE R
accrued charges TEIRE A 5,244 = 5,244 5,244
Amount due a to B —REEHIE
director 5,779 - 5,779 5,779
Lease liabilities HEAaR 837 1,764 2,601 2,420
12,354 1,764 14,118 13,937
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

35.6 Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair
value in the consolidated statement of financial
position are grouped into three levels of a fair value
hierarchy. The three levels are defined based on
the observability and significance of inputs to the
measurements, as follows:

o Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets and liabilities.

o Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices
included within Level 1 that are observable for
the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly,
and not using significant unobservable inputs.

o Level 3: significant unobservable inputs for
the asset or liability.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the
financial asset or liability is categorised in its entirety
based on the lowest level of input that is significant
to the fair value measurement.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

(Continued)

35.6 Fair value measurements of financial

instruments (Continued)

The financial assets measured at fair value on
a recurring basis are grouped into the fair value

hierarchy as follows:

=F+A=+—HIFE

=1/

BBEBEERAAEE
(#)

=
2

35.

35.6 ERITAMNAAREETEE)

IREUEEERAABEAENS
BMEERALABEBRNT :

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F—#H -t 1 E=4& Fok
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FET FET F#& T F#& T
2023 —E-=F
Financial assets at FVOC| 122 R BEF AEM
(non-recycling) ZHBENSREE
(TAralEs)
— Unlisted private equity  —3FEMRABREZES
fund - - 565 565
- Unlisted equity —FELTRAKRE
investments - - 20,288 20,288
- - 20,853 20,853
2022 —B-CF
Financial assets at FVOC| 1R Q4 BE A
(non-recycling) FHNENSREE
(e ElsE)
- Unlisted private equity  —3EEMRAREES
fund - - 391 391
— Unlisted equity —FFELETRAKE
investments - - 24,487 24,487
- - 24,878 24,878

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level
2 during the years ended 31 December 2023 and

2022.

BE-_ZT-_=ZFR-_T-_—F+=
A=+—HBLHE F—HEF -
A I s o
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

146

AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS
(Continued)

35.6 Fair value measurements of financial
instruments (Continued)
The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the

Group's financial instruments classified within Level
3 of the fair value hierarchy is as follows:

HILFE

35. REBMEERAABENE
(#)

35.6 ERITAMNAAREETEE)

DEBANEBEERE=ZFHNLE
EermTANKEESRNT

2023 2022
—B-=F —F-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Unlisted private equity fund FLETRAREES
Fair value at 1 January R—A—BHAREE 391 447
Fair value gain/(loss) recognised in  REMZ2EURZERHN
other comprehensive income N BEKE (B8) 174 (56)
Fair value at 31 December RTZA=+—B®HAanEA 565 391
Unlisted equity investments FLTRERE
Fair value at 1 January R—HA—BHAREE 24,487 23,776
Fair value (loss)/gain recognised in  REMEEBEERHALE
other comprehensive income B (B8 e (4,199) 711
Fair value at 31 December R+tZR=+—HB®HARER 20,288 24,487

Fair value gain/(loss) on unlisted equity investments
and unlisted private equity fund is recognised in
other comprehensive expenses and included under
“Fair value reserve (non-recycling)”.

There have been no transfers into or out of Level 3
during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

The methods and valuation techniques used for
the purpose of measuring fair values categorised in
Levels 3 are unchanged compared to the previous
reporting periods and are described below.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 35. BiIKEKREERAAEBEE
AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (&)
(Continued)

35.6 Fair value measurements of financial 356 TRTENAAREENESE)

instruments (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair value of
the unlisted private equity fund is measured using
valuation techniques with reference to the net assets
values. The directors believe that the change in fair
value (which is included in other comprehensive
expense) derived from the valuation technique is
reasonable and is the most appropriate value at the
reporting date.

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the fair value of
an unlisted equity investment has been arrived at on
the basis of a valuation carried out by Avista Valuation
Advisory Limited, independent qualified professional
valuers, using the adjusted net assets method as
the major assets are investment properties to earn
rentals. The value of those major assets has been
adjusted to their fair value at the reporting date
using income capitalisation method for the purpose
of determining the Group’s share of adjusted net
assets value and fair value of the investment.

The significant unobservable inputs include monthly
rental rate of RMB40.7/sq.m. (2022: RMB42.0/sg.m.)
and market yield of 6% (2022: 5%). The higher the
market yield would result in lower fair value. The
higher the monthly rental rate would result in higher
fair value.

RZEZ=FR_T-__F+=H
=+—8  LETRARZEESH
AABEDRAGERMTZ2EE
EFEFTE - EFRE - MERIT
EENAAREEEZHGIAEZMEE
AX)BAEREAZRABHRKE
ERHE -

RZEZ=FR-TE-__F+=A
=+—8 AEXZBEEAAERRD
BB - BEELETRAE
ENRAAREBEDERBIABKE
EAEMYERTEERAEGRAR
EITHHE  FRCHREEFEAE
FEE o BETAERENNEH
BEEFERKEAAEBE %%
FEEEGBEDERAKRAERE
FEEEHRAHHAAEE -

BEARZERGABBERETAMN
BFEFRARELI0.7T(ZE=Z
F: BEFIRARKA2.07T) ks
Hﬁlﬁ?’i%iG% (:::::E : 5cy0) o TH
Bl EEES - AnEEBE -
Afisds r AnEEES -
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36.

37.

148

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group's capital management objectives are to ensure
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to
provide an adequate return for shareholders by pricing
goods and services commensurately with the level of risks.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of
changes in economic conditions. In order to adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares and raises
new debt financing.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures in these financial statements
were reclassified to conform to the current year's
presentation.

Yu Tak International Holdings Limited ANNUAL REPORT 2023

36.

37.

BEXEHE

AEE 2 EAEEABARRAEEZE
2N BEBRER BB LA
BBK T8 2 15 - AU RRRA I
S o

AEEEGRITE MY EARBETRS R
Bl VARKERREZBEELRAE
RABRERRE  AEEHSHARKNTT
BRHBE R - BITHRN KETHE

LB E T

ZEMBREANE THBRBRFEEHR D
B UNaAFENIHRA A



Yu Tak International Holdings Limited

HEBEREZERBRA A



	COVER
	GEM
	CONTENTS
	CORPORATE INFORMATION
	FINANCIAL SUMMARY
	CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
	MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
	CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
	DIRECTORS’ REPORT
	PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
	INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
	CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
	NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
	BACK COVER

